

Climate change impacts on water quality and biodiversity

Background Report for EEA European Environment State and Outlook Report 2010



ETC Water Technical Report 1/2010

Anne Lyche Solheim, Kari Austnes, Tor Erik Eriksen, Isabel Seifert, Silje Holen

The European Topic Centre on Water (ETC/W) is a consortium of European institutes under contract of the European Environment Agency BGR, CENIA, DHI, Ecologic, ICES, IFREMER, INGV, IWRS, NIVA, NTUA, SYKE Cover photo: © Pavla Chyska

Layout/editing: ETC Water/Pavla Chyska

Legal notice

This European Topic Centre on Water (ETC Water) Technical Paper has not been subject to a European Environment Agency (EEA) member country review. The contents of this publication do not necessarily reflect the official opinions of the European Environment Agency, European Commission or other institutions of the European Communities. Neither the ETC Water nor any person or company acting on behalf of the ETC Water is responsible for the use that may be made of the information contained in this report.

Copyright notice

© ETC Water, Prague, 2010 Reproduction is authorised, provided the source is acknowledged, save where otherwise stated.

Information about the European Topic Centre on Water is available on the internet. It can be accessed at http://water.eionet.europa.eu

Author affiliation

Anne Lyche Solheim, Kari Austnes, Tor Erik Eriksen, Isabel Seifert, Silje Holen, Norwegian Institute for Water Research (NIVA), Norway

EEA Project manager:

Peter Kristensen, European Environment Agency, Copenhagen, Denmark

European Topic Centre on Water CENIA, Czech Environmental Information Agency Litevská 8 100 05 Praha 10 Czech Republic Tel: +420 267 225 338 Web: water.eionet.europa.eu

Contents

Intro	duction	. 5
1.	Direct and indirect impacts on water quality (physical and chemical 6	changes)
1.1.	Impacts on water temperature and lake circulation	7
1.2.	Ice cover	10
1.3.	DOC concentration	13
1.4.	Nutrient concentrations and loading	16
1.5.	Water transparency and underwater light conditions	19
1.6.	Oxygen concentrations	20
1.7.	Impact on hazardous substances	22
1.8.	Pathogenic microbes in water	23
2.	Impacts on Freshwater Biodiversity	24
2.1.	Introduction	24
2.2.	Direct impacts on species distribution patterns	24
2.3.	Extinction and reduction of cold-water species	29
2.4.	Potential genetic adaptation / phenology changes	30
2.5.	Risk of increased cyanobacterial blooms and other harmful algae	31
2.6.	Conclusions	34
_	Impacts on scalarias status of lakes and rivers	
3. 3 1	Impacts on ecological status of lakes and rivers	35 35
3. 3.1. 3.2.	Introduction	35 35 36
3. 3.1. 3.2. 3.3.	Introduction Introduction Impacts on reference conditions Potential impacts on thresholds for the good/moderate boundary	35 35 36 38
 3. 3.1. 3.2. 3.3. 3.4. 	Introduction Impacts on reference conditions Potential impacts on thresholds for the good/moderate boundary Projections for major ecological changes in rivers and lakes	35 35 36 38 39
 3. 3.1. 3.2. 3.3. 3.4. 4. 	Introduction Impacts on reference conditions Potential impacts on thresholds for the good/moderate boundary Projections for major ecological changes in rivers and lakes Impacts on human health and socio-economic costs	35 35 36 38 39 41
 3. 3.1. 3.2. 3.3. 3.4. 4. 4.1. 	Introduction Introduction Impacts on reference conditions Potential impacts on thresholds for the good/moderate boundary Projections for major ecological changes in rivers and lakes Impacts on human health and socio-economic costs Mechanisms	35 35 36 38 39 41 41
 3. 3.1. 3.2. 3.3. 3.4. 4. 4.1. 4.2. 	Impacts on ecological status of lakes and invers Introduction Impacts on reference conditions Potential impacts on thresholds for the good/moderate boundary Projections for major ecological changes in rivers and lakes Impacts on human health and socio-economic costs Mechanisms Past trends and projections	35 35 36 38 39 41 41 41
 3. 3.1. 3.2. 3.3. 3.4. 4. 4.1. 4.2. 4.3. 	Impacts on ecological status of lakes and invers Introduction Impacts on reference conditions Potential impacts on thresholds for the good/moderate boundary Projections for major ecological changes in rivers and lakes Impacts on human health and socio-economic costs Mechanisms Past trends and projections Conclusion	35 35 36 38 39 41 41 41 41
 3. 3.1. 3.2. 3.3. 3.4. 4. 4.1. 4.2. 4.3. 5. 	Impacts on ecological status of lakes and invers Introduction Impacts on reference conditions Potential impacts on thresholds for the good/moderate boundary Projections for major ecological changes in rivers and lakes Impacts on human health and socio-economic costs Mechanisms Past trends and projections Conclusion Possible adaptation measures	35 35 36 38 39 41 41 41 45 45
 3. 3.1. 3.2. 3.3. 3.4. 4. 4.1. 4.2. 4.3. 5. 5.1. 	Impacts on ecological status of lakes and invers Introduction Impacts on reference conditions Potential impacts on thresholds for the good/moderate boundary Projections for major ecological changes in rivers and lakes Impacts on human health and socio-economic costs Mechanisms Past trends and projections Conclusion Possible adaptation measures Adaptation to climate change impacts on water quality and biodiversity	35 35 36 38 39 41 41 41 45 45 45
 3. 3.1. 3.2. 3.3. 3.4. 4. 4.1. 4.2. 4.3. 5. 5.1. 5.2. 	Impacts on ecological status of lakes and "rivers Introduction Impacts on reference conditions Potential impacts on thresholds for the good/moderate boundary Projections for major ecological changes in rivers and lakes Impacts on human health and socio-economic costs Mechanisms Past trends and projections Conclusion Possible adaptation measures Adaptation to climate change impacts on water quality and biodiversity Concrete adaptation measures	35 35 36 38 39 41 41 41 45 45 45 45 47
 3. 3.1. 3.2. 3.3. 3.4. 4. 4.1. 4.2. 4.3. 5. 5.1. 5.2. 5.3. 	Impacts on ecological status of lakes and invers Introduction Impacts on reference conditions Potential impacts on thresholds for the good/moderate boundary Projections for major ecological changes in rivers and lakes Impacts on human health and socio-economic costs Mechanisms Past trends and projections Conclusion Possible adaptation measures Adaptation to climate change impacts on water quality and biodiversity Concrete adaptation measures Status of adaptation strategies in European countries	35 35 36 38 39 41 41 41 45 45 45 45 45 45 53
 3. 3.1. 3.2. 3.3. 3.4. 4. 4.1. 4.2. 4.3. 5.1. 5.2. 5.3. 6. 	Impacts on ecological status of lakes and "rivers Introduction Impacts on reference conditions Potential impacts on thresholds for the good/moderate boundary Projections for major ecological changes in rivers and lakes Impacts on human health and socio-economic costs Mechanisms Past trends and projections Conclusion Possible adaptation measures Adaptation to climate change impacts on water quality and biodiversity Concrete adaptation measures Status of adaptation strategies in European countries Conclusions and key messages	35 35 36 38 39 41 41 41 45 45 45 45 45 45 53 55
 3. 3.1. 3.2. 3.3. 3.4. 4. 4.1. 4.2. 4.3. 5.1. 5.2. 5.3. 6. Refe 	Impacts on ecological status of lakes and invers Introduction	35 35 36 38 39 41 41 41 45 45 45 45 45 45 53 55 56
 3. 3.1. 3.2. 3.3. 3.4. 4. 4.1. 4.2. 4.3. 5.1. 5.2. 5.3. 6. Refer 	Introduction Introduction Potential impacts on thresholds for the good/moderate boundary Projections for major ecological changes in rivers and lakes Impacts on human health and socio-economic costs Mechanisms Past trends and projections Conclusion Possible adaptation measures Adaptation to climate change impacts on water quality and biodiversity Concrete adaptation measures Status of adaptation strategies in European countries Conclusions and key messages rences - Introduction	35 35 36 38 39 41 41 41 45 45 45 45 45 45 53 55 56 56

References - Chapter 2.	Impacts on biodiversity6	51
References - Chapter 3.	Impacts on Ecological status6	5 5
References - Chapter 4.	Impacts on human health and socio-economic costs6	5 5
References - Chapter 5.	Adaptation6	6
Abbreviations	6	8

Introduction

The aim of this report is to provide an overview of the climate change impacts on water quality and freshwater biodiversity as a background report for the EEA European Environment State and Outlook Report 2010. This background report is based on the EEA/JRC/WHO Impacts of Europe's changing climate - 2008 indicator-based assessment (EEA, 2008) and updated with information in recent publications and with the 2010 update of the EEA climate change indicators: CLIM 19 Water temperature, CLIM 20 Lake and river ice and CLIM 21Freshwater biodiversity and water quality.

Climate change can result in significant changes in the variables and processes that affect water quality and freshwater biodiversity. These include:

- physical changes such as increased water temperature, reduced river and lake ice cover, more stable vertical stratification and less mixing of water of deep-water lakes, and changes in water discharge, affecting water level and retention time;
- chemical changes, such as increased nutrient concentrations and water colour (DOC), and decreased oxygen content
- biological changes, including northwards migration of species and alteration of habitats, affecting the structure and functioning of freshwater ecosystems.

Changes in these variables lead to impacts on all the socio-economic and environmental goods and services that depend on these systems directly or indirectly.

European freshwaters are already being affected by many human activities, resulting in changes in land-use, pollution with nutrients and hazardous substances, and acid deposition. Because of difficulties in disentangling the effects of climatic factors from other pressures, there is limited empirical evidence to demonstrate unequivocally the impact of climate change on water quality and freshwater ecology. On the other hand, there are many indications that freshwaters that are already under stress from human activities are highly susceptible to climate change impacts and that climate change may significantly hinder attempts to restore some water bodies to good ecological status.

Currently many national and European research activities are producing relevant and valuable results on climate change impacts on Europe's freshwater; see for example Euro-limpacs (Kernan et al., 2010 and <u>http://www.eurolimpacs.ucl.ac.uk/index.php</u>) or the IPCC report on climate change and water summarising the different water sections in the Fourth assessment report of the IPCC (IPCC, 2007). A new FP7-project (REFRESH: <u>http://www.refresh.ucl.ac.uk/</u>) has recently started with the main objective to develop adaptive strategies to mitigate the impacts of climate change on European freshwater ecosystems, including relevant restoration measures.

The content of this background report is structured into six main chapters:

- 1. Direct and indirect impacts on water quality (physical and chemical changes)
- 2. Impacts on biodiversity
- 3. Impacts on ecological status of lakes and rivers
- 4. Impacts on water use including human health
- 5. Possible adaptation measures
- 6. Conclusions and key messages

1. Direct and indirect impacts on water quality (physical and chemical changes)

Climate change will affect water quality both through increased temperature and through hydrological changes in rainfall affecting run-off and mobilisation of nutrients and other pollutants. The increased water temperature will affect ice cover and circulation patterns in lakes and rivers, as well as the rate of biogeochemical and ecological processes that determine water quality. In areas where river flow and groundwater recharge will decrease, water quality may also decrease due to less dilution of pollutants. Higher intensity and frequency of floods and more frequent extreme precipitation events are expected to increase the load of pollutants (organic matter, nutrients, and hazardous substances) washed from soils and overflows of sewage systems to water bodies. This may result in:

- *Increased water colour* due to increased input of humic substances as dissolved organic carbon (DOC) from the catchment.
- *Reduced oxygen content.* Increased biological respiration rates result in lower dissolved oxygen concentrations, particularly in summer low-flow periods and in the bottom layers of lakes. Higher temperature and lower oxygen concentrations will cause stress and may reduce the habitats of cold-water species such as salmonid fish in lakes and rivers.
- *Increased nutrients.* Increased mineralisation and releases of nitrogen, phosphorus and carbon from soil organic matter and increased run-off and erosion will result in increased nutrient loads. Also release of phosphorus from bottom sediments in stratified lakes is expected to increase, due to declining oxygen concentrations in the bottom waters.
- *Increase in pathogenic microbes:* Sewage overflows upon heavy rains combined with higher water temperatures and longer ice-free season may increase the number of pathogenic microbes in water.

Many of the diverse aspects of climate change (e.g. temperature increase, variations in rainfall and runoff) affect the distribution and mobility of hazardous substances in freshwater systems. Loading of hazardous substances may increase due to sewage overflow, as well as higher pesticide use and run-off due to heavy rains, while higher temperatures increase the degradation rate of some pesticides and organic pollutants, which may reduce their concentrations in rivers and lakes. Thus the net effect of climate change on hazardous substances is uncertain. However, higher air and water temperatures may change the migration and biological uptake of atmospherically-transported toxic organic pollutants including those already banned (Grimalt et al., 2001).

This chapter is structured into 8 sections focusing on climate change impacts on:

- water temperature and lake circulation
- ice cover
- underwater light conditions
- DOC concentration
- oxygen
- nutrient concentrations

- hazardous substances
- pathogenic microbes in water.

1.1. Impacts on water temperature and lake circulation

Mechanisms

Since water temperature is mainly determined by heat exchange with the atmosphere, higher air temperatures lead to higher water temperatures. For rivers, there are strong correlations between water and air temperature (Webb and Nobilis, 2007; Moatar et al., 2006; Versteeg et al., 2005; Webb et al., 2003; Langan et al., 2001).

Increased lake temperature in deep lakes is connected with higher thermal stability and a deeper thermocline (DeStasio et al., 1996; Hassan et al., 1998). Increased thermal stability and stratification has been found in Lake Maggiore (Ambrosetti and Barbanti, 1999) and Lake Zurich (Livingstone, 2003) in relation to increased air temperatures. Shallow lakes, due to their smaller volume and limited stratification in summer, are known to respond more directly to prevailing weather conditions (Gerten & Adrian, 2001). However, increased thermal stability may become more common also here. Wilhelm and Adrian (2008) studied the shallow polymictic lake Müggelsee in the period 2003 to 2006. They found that during summer, periods with stratified conditions exceeded those with mixed conditions, and particularly long stratification events developed during the exceptional heatwaves occurring in Europe in 2003 and 2006. Hypolimnetic temperatures were higher than what is common for dimictic lakes, because stratification builds up when lake temperatures are already high.

Water temperature may also be affected by other factors than air temperature. Especially in larger rivers, flow regulation, cooling water from power plants, ground water flow and extreme hydrological events (Moatar et al., 2006; Liu et al., 2005; Versteeg et al., 2005) may be important. For smaller rivers, removing tree cover along the stream can lead to dramatic increases in water temperature (Gomi et al., 2006). Earlier ice-off gives more rapid warming of lake water in spring/summer (Moore et al., 2009). Higher wind speed could reduce stratification stability (George et al., 2007), but rapid warming of lake surface water in spring circulation and cause higher phytoplankton biomass (Straile et al., 2003).

Deep water warming in coloured lakes is less responsive to changes in air temperature than in clear-water lakes (Snucins and Gunn, 2000). In Clearwater Lake, Ontario, a drop in bottom temperatures of 7 °C and a thermocline increase of 4 m in the period 1973-2001 was related to a marked increase in DOC concentration (and thus vertical light attenuation) (Tanentzap et al., 2008). The increased thermocline was also related to decreased wind speed, due to afforestation.

Past trends

Long time-series, covering the past 100 years, show that the surface water temperatures of some of the major rivers and lakes in Europe have increased by 1–3 °C over the last century (Fig. 1.1; EEA, 2008). The temperature of the river Rhine increased by 3 °C between 1910 and 2006. Two-thirds of this is estimated to be due to the increased use of cooling water in Germany and one-third to the increase in temperature as a result of climate change (MNP, 2006). In the river Danube the annual average temperature increased by around 1 °C during the last century. A similar temperature increase was found in some large lakes: Lake Võrtsjärv

in Estonia had a 0.7 °C increase between 1947 and 2006 and the summer (August) water temperature of Lake Saimaa, Finland increased more than 1 °C over the last century.

A number of shorter time-series of water temperature covering the past 30–50 years indicate a general trend of increasing water temperature in European freshwater systems of 0.05 to 0.8 $^{\circ}$ C per decade.

The temperature of Lake Windermere (England) and Lough Feeagh (Ireland) increased by 0.7–1.4 °C between 1960 and 2000 (George and Hurley 2007). The water temperature of Lake Veluwe (the Netherlands) has increased by more than 1 °C since 1960 (MNP, 2006). Mooij et al. (2008) modelled the water temperature in three shallow lakes in the Netherlands, and found an increase of almost 2 °C over the period 1961-2006. Marked increases in water temperature were found in eight Lithuanian lakes (Pernaravičiūtė, 2004) and six Polish lakes (Dabrowski et al., 2004). Since 1950, water temperatures in rivers and lake surface waters in Switzerland have in some cases increased by more than 2 °C (BUWAL, 2004; Hari et al., 2006). In the large lakes in the Alps the water temperature has generally increased by 0.1–0.3 °C per decade: Lake Maggiore and other large Italian lakes (Ambrosetti and Barbanti, 1999), Lake Zürich (Livingstone, 2003), Lake Constance and Lake Geneva (Anneville et al., 2005).

Also in Lake Baikal, there was a significant increase in water temperature at the surface and at 25 m in the period 1945-2005 (Hampton et al., 2008). Surface waters warmed on average 0.20 °C decade⁻¹, at 25 m on average 0.12 °C decade⁻¹. The seasonal analysis showed that surface water warming in summer seems to have induced warming of deeper waters in the fall. Lake Baikal is important in a climate change context, because as the world's largest lake by volume, it is expected to be among the most resistant to warming.

Dokulil et al. (2006) studied the trend in hypolimnion (bottom water) temperature in 12 deep European lakes and found generally a temperature increase of 0.1–0.2 °C per decade.

Projections

As water temperature is closely linked to change in air temperature, the predicted increase in air temperature due to climate change will be reflected in increased surface water temperature. This is in addition to temperature changes caused by other factors, such as changes in cooling water releases. Projected increases in surface water temperatures are often 50 to 70 % of the projected increases in air temperature. In line with the projected increases in air temperature, lake surface water temperatures may be around 2 °C higher by 2070, but with a clear seasonal dependency and depending on lake properties (Malmaeus et al., 2006; George et al., 2007).

Physical modelling studies of medium-sized lakes in the temperate zone predict that temperatures will increase more in the upper regions of the water column than in the lower regions, resulting in generally steeper vertical temperature gradients and enhanced thermal stability (Hondzo and Stefan, 1993; Stefan et al., 1998; Peeters et al., 2002). This may have significant effects on mixing of water in lakes, which in turn affects deep water oxygen conditions, nutrient cycling and phytoplankton biomass (Straile et al., 2003).

Conclusion

Surface water temperatures have been observed to increase and will continue to increase. During the last century the water temperature of some of the major European rivers and lakes increased by 1-3 °C, mainly as a result of air temperature increase, but also locally due to increased inputs of heated cooling water from power plants. In line with the projected increases in air temperature, lake surface water temperatures may be around 2°C higher by 2070 than today. Increased temperature gives increased thermal stability and less mixing of the water column. Further increases in DOC concentrations may partly counteract the deep water warming by reducing the light penetration.



Figure 1.1 - Trend in annual water temperature in river Rhine (1909-2006), Danube (1901-1998), Lake Vörtsjärv, Estonia (1947-2006) and average water temperature in August in Lake Saimaa, Finland (1924-2000) (EEA, 2008).

1.2. Ice cover

Mechanisms

The appearance of ice on lakes and rivers requires prolonged periods with air temperatures below 0 °C. Franssen and Scherrer (2008) found good correspondence between the sum of negative degree days (NDD) and the probability of lake freezing. The sum of NDD needed for a 50% probability of freezing was positively related to lake depth, meaning that more cold is needed the deeper the lake is. This is because deeper lakes have a higher volume where heat is stored compared to the surface area where heat is lost (Franssen and Scherrer, 2008).

Higher temperatures will affect the duration of ice cover, the freezing and thawing dates and the thickness of the ice cover. Air temperature is the key variable determining the timing of ice break-up (Palecki and Barry, 1986; Livingstone, 1997). Wind has a strong impact on timing of both ice formation and break-up (Moore et al., 2009). For rivers, also discharge affects the ice cover, giving retarded freeze-up and accelerated break-up with increasing flow and vice versa (Beltaos and Prowse, 2009).

Climatic conditions not only influence the timing and duration of the ice cover, but also the thickness of the ice cover and the nature of break-up. This is especially important in rivers. In years with low snowpack and/or protracted spring melt, the ice-break will mainly be thermal, characterised by extensive ablation and weakening of the ice cover prior to an increase in flow, if any. With a thick snowpack and rapid melt, break-up will be mainly mechanical, characterised by a rapidly rising flow driven into a thick and mechanically strong ice cover. This process increases the chance of ice jamming and flooding (Beltaos and Prowse, 2009).

Past trends

An analysis of long (more than 150 year) ice records from lakes and rivers throughout the northern hemisphere by Magnuson et al. (2000) indicated that ice cover has been occurring on average 5.8 days later per 100 years, while ice break-up has been occurring on average 6.5 days earlier, implying an overall decrease in the duration of ice cover at a mean rate of 12 days per 100 years (Fig. 1.2). These results do not appear to change with latitude, or between North America and Eurasia, or between rivers and lakes.

A few longer time-series reveal reduced ice cover (a warming trend) beginning as early as the 16th century, with increasing rates of change after about 1850. The early and long-term decreasing trend in the ice break-up dates is the result of the end of the Little Ice Age, which lasted from about 1400 to 1900 (Kerr, 1999).

Beltaos and Prowse (2009) reviewed various studies of river ice in the northern hemisphere/Arctic, showing an overall trend towards earlier spring break-up. However, there was considerable spatial variability in freeze-up date trends. In most cases, the ice season decreased, but there were several exceptions. The changes were often most pronounced in the last few decades of the 20th century. As an overall approximation, the authors suggest that the autumn and spring warming occurring in the 20th century warming has produced a 10-15 days delay in freeze-up and advance in break-up in these areas.

Studying ice cover information from 11 Swiss lakes over the last century, Franssen and Scherrer (2008) found that the freezing frequency of lakes that freeze rarely was significantly reduced in the past 40 years, and especially during the past two decades. In Lake Baikal, the

ice-free season has lengthened and the ice thickness decreased in the last century (Hampton et al., 2008; Shimaraev et al., 2002). However, Karetnikov and Naumenko (2008) found only minor changes in ice cover for Lake Ladoga, north-west Russia in the period 1943 to 2006.



Figure 1.2 - Ice break-up dates from selected European lakes and rivers (1835–2006) and the North Atlantic Oscillation (NAO) index for winter 1864–2006 (EEA, 2008)

The sensitivity of ice cover to increased temperature may vary with the initial climatic conditions. A study of 196 Swedish lakes along a latitudinal temperature gradient revealed that a 1 °C air temperature increase caused an up to 35 days earlier ice break-up in Sweden's warmest southern regions with annual mean air temperatures around 7 °C. It caused only about 5 days earlier break-up in Sweden's coldest northern regions where annual mean air temperatures are around -2 °C (Weyhenmeyer et al., 2004; Weyhenmeyer, 2007). The same effect is observed in Finland, where ice break-up happens significantly earlier now than in the late 19th century, except in the very north (Korhonen, 2006).

Karetnikov and Naumenko (2008) studied long-term (1943-2006) ice cover data from Lake Ladoga, north-west Russia, the largest dimictic lake in Europe. In this case the trend analysis revealed only minor changes in ice cover. In Lake Baikal, the ice-free season has lengthened and the ice thickness decreased in the last century (Hampton et al., 2008; Shimaraev et al., 2002).

There are very few studies on historical trends in river ice-cover thickness, but there are reports on decreasing trends (Beltaos and Prowse, 2009). Even less reported is the trend in river ice jams, and the results point in different directions, underscoring the complexity of ice-jam processes (Beltaos and Prowse, 2009). However, there is some evidence of a reduction in

ice-jam floods in Europe due to reduced freshwater freezing during the last century (Svensson et al., 2006).

Projections

Future increases in air temperature associated with climate change are likely to result in generally shorter periods of ice cover on lakes and rivers. The most rapid decrease in the duration of ice cover will occur in the temperate region where the ice season is already short or only occurs in cold winters (Weyhenmeyer et al., 2004). As a result, some of the lakes that now freeze in winter and that mix from top to bottom during two mixing periods each year (dimictic lakes) will potentially change into monomictic (mixing only once) lakes with no ice-cover during winter and a long stagnation period from early spring till late autumn. This has consequences for deep-water oxygenation, nutrient cycling and algal productivity, and may change the ecological status of previously ice-covered lakes in temperate regions.

By the end of the century, the ice cover is predicted to shorten dramatically in lake Baikal (Shimaraev et al., 2002; Todd and Mackay, 2003). Climate change may also change the ice quality, but it is difficult to predict the effects; a shift towards more rain rather than snow in the spring may give more cloudy ice if the rain falls on snow, but a great deal of rain produces clear ice (Moore et al., 2009).

Borsch et al. (2001) calculated the expected changes in dates of freeze-up and break-up of river ice for regions in Russia based on simple correlation with air temperature. Although rough, the calculation shows that the largest changes will occur in the most westerly parts of Russia.

Warmer autumns and higher flows would give the largest potential for river freeze-up jamming. The likelihood of break-up jamming depends both on the nature of the established ice cover and the climatic conditions during break-up. A very important factor is the snowpack in the catchment, as more intense snowmelt increases the probability of a mechanical breakup (Beltaos and Prowse, 2009). According to the IPCC (Meehl et al., 2007) winter precipitation in high-latitude regions will increase, but the corresponding effect on snowpack will depend on the present and future temperature, determining whether the additional precipitation will fall mainly as rain or snow. At present, more research is needed to be able to predict the trends in spring ice jams with a changing climate (Beltaos and Prowse, 2009).

Mid-winter melts are likely to become more frequent in a warmer climate. Intensified midwinter thaws would enhance the severity of mid-winter breakups, but may also reduce the potential for spring jamming. More importantly, rivers that currently have a permanent ice cover will be susceptible to mid-winter ice-breakups, which may have severe consequences (Beltaos and Prowse, 2009).

Conclusion

A shortening of the ice cover season has been observed, and continued shortening is expected. The duration of ice cover in the northern hemisphere has shortened at a mean rate of 12 days per century, resulting from an average 5.8 days later ice cover and 6.5 days earlier ice breakup. The ice cover of lakes in the temperate region where the ice season is already short or ice cover only occurs in cold winters is much more affected by temperature change than lakes in colder regions, such as Northern Scandinavia. The largest changes are therefore expected in the medium cold regions. A warmer climate will also give thinner ice and more mid-winter break-ups.

1.3. DOC concentration

Mechanisms

Climatic factors may affect both concentrations and fluxes of dissolved organic carbon (DOC). Climatic factors can affect production of DOC in the terrestrial systems and thereby changing DOC concentrations without changes in runoff. However, increased runoff may also affect DOC concentrations through changing the degree of dilution and by altering water flow paths through the soil (Inamdar et al., 2006; Soulsby et al., 2003; Worrall et al., 2002; Roulet and Moore 2006; Fig. 1.3). Changes in DOC fluxes can result from changes in runoff without changes in DOC concentration. Simultaneous increases or decreases in concentration may add on to or cancel out the flux changes, respectively.

DOC production is stimulated by increased temperature (Freeman et al., 2001a; Michalzik and Matzner, 1999). Increased soil moisture is also shown to have a positive effect on DOC production (Christ and David, 1996). Drought and soil frost may also stimulate DOC production through increased fine root and microbial mortality, increased fragmentation of soil organic matter and fresh litter and increased aggregate instability, giving direct release of DOC or increased microbial activity (e.g. Fitzhugh et al., 2001; Lundquist et al., 1999; Schimel et al., 2007; Tierney et al., 2001).



Figure 1.3 - Passage of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) through the landscape. The decomposition and subsequent leaching of organic litter in bogs, forests and wetlands are the principal sources of DOC in the terrestrial landscape. Production is mediated by several physical and biogeochemical factors, such as deposition of nitrates and sulphates from the atmosphere, moisture and temperature. The rate of export of terrestrial DOC is determined by the rate of production combined with the rate of sorption by mineral soils, and the availability of pathways for water through the

landscape. Evans et al. (2006) correlate an increase in hydrological DOC concentrations in the United Kingdom during 1988–2003 with the decreased deposition of sulphates in the form of acid rain in that period (Roulet and Moore, 2006).

In recent years an increasing trend in DOC concentrations has been observed (see Fig. 1.4)). However, there has been considerable debate on the main drivers of the observed increases, including the role of climate in these trends (e.g. Evans et al., 2005; Freeman et al., 2001a; Freeman et al., 2004; Monteith et al., 2007; Tranvik and Jansson, 2002). Freeman et al. (2001b) initially suggested that the increases could be due to the effect of temperature increase on soil enzyme activity. In reply, Tranvik and Jansson (2002) pointed out that the substantial increase in DOC concentrations in lakes and streams in Sweden during the 1970s and 1980s occurred despite a reduction in annual temperatures. Freeman et al. (2004) subsequently suggested that carbon dioxide mediated stimulation was responsible for the observed increases. However, Evans et al. (2005) argued that given the magnitude of the observed increase in CO₂, this mechanism can only account for 1-6% of the DOC increase at UK sites. Their study came to a tentative conclusion that deposition-related and climaterelated factors both appeared to be significant. The increase in DOC concentration due to reduction in acid deposition is likely to be related to the effect of pH and ionic strength on soil organic matter solubility (de Wit et al., 2007; Evans et al., 2005). Statistical analysis of large datasets has later confirmed the strong relationship between the rise in DOC concentrations and the reduction in acid deposition (de Wit et al., 2007; Evans et al., 2006; Monteith et al., 2007). In a study of 522 spatially distributed data sets, Monteith et al. (2007) showed that changes in atmospheric deposition provided the only regionally consistent explanation for the observed increasing trend in lake and river DOC concentrations. However, the discussion is still ongoing, and several authors point to the importance also of climatic variables. It is evident that climatic factors can control concentrations and fluxes of DOC, but the question is to what extent. It is most likely that the trends so far have been governed by changes in acid deposition, but this does not exclude climatic factors to be important controls in the future (e.g. Weyhenmeyer, 2008). Erlandsson et al. (2008) showed that flow and SO₄ concentrations best explained the variability in DOC concentrations. They concluded that as SO₄ concentrations are stabilising, hydrology is likely to be the major driver of future variability and trends in DOC concentrations.

Past trends

In recent decades increased DOC concentration and water colour have been reported from many catchments in Europe and North America (Freeman et al., 2001a; Skjelkvåle et al., 2001; Löfgren et al., 2003; Hongve et al., 2004; Evans et al., 2005, 2006; Worrall et al., 2005; Vuorenmaa et al., 2006; de Wit et al., 2007; Erlandsson et al., 2008; Monteith et al., 2007). In the period 1988-2003 significant increases in DOC concentrations occurred at all 11 lakes (average increase 63%) and 11 streams (average increase 71%) included in the Acid Waters Monitoring Network in the UK (Evans et al., 2006) and increased significantly at 77% of 198 sites across the UK, none of which showed significant decreases (Worrall et al., 2005). In a study of long-term (1990-2004) trends in DOC concentrations for 522 data sets, covering six North European and North American countries, upward slopes outnumbered downward slopes. 88% of significant trends were positive. Upward slopes were most frequently significant in the southern Nordic region, the UK, and in the north-east USA (Fig.1.4).Long-

term data sets have also shown increasing trends in DOC flux (de Wit et al., 2007; Worrall et al., 2008).

Projections

Due to the complexity of the biogeochemical processes, there are still large uncertainties in the modelling of future DOC concentrations and fluxes. The most advanced model including catchment and in-stream processes so far is probably the INCA-C model (Futter et al., 2007). The modelling suggests that a warmer and wetter climate could lead to higher DOC concentrations (Futter et al., 2007). Calculations by Erlandsson et al. (2008), based on the statistical relationship between DOC concentrations and flow, indicates that future changes are far smaller than the short term fluctuations observed. Hence, the short term fluctuations (hours to years) are likely to be of most concern for the water quality in the boreal zone. The modelling studies are mainly focusing on catchment and stream processes. It should be noted that changes in lake processes may also affect DOC concentrations, i.e. enhanced lake stratification due to higher temperature could lead to more photo-degradation of DOC (Epp et al., 2007).



Jnited State

0 PA

OH

CT



Figure 1.4 - Trends in dissolved organic carbon (mg $I^{-1}y^{-1}$). Data are shown for monitoring sites on acid-sensitive terrain in Europe (upper panel) and North America (lower panel) for the period 1990-2004 (Monteith et al., 2007).

Future DOC fluxes are likely to be mainly affected by the changes in precipitation levels. In a study of long-term DOC trends in peat-dominated catchments, Worrall et al. (2008) showed that the major control upon DOC flux from the catchments is the amount of runoff.

Conclusion

The increased DOC concentrations observed in lakes and rivers over the last couple of decades is probably mainly due to reduced acid deposition. However, both DOC concentrations and fluxes are affected by climatic factors, especially changes in precipitation. Increased precipitation is likely to give increased DOC fluxes, and may also give increased DOC concentrations. This will reduce light penetration and oxygen levels. Droughts may give lower lake DOC concentrations due to prolonged retention time and enhanced lake stratification, giving more photo-degradation of DOC.

1.4. Nutrient concentrations and loading

Mechanisms

A warmer climate can enhance the pollution load of nutrients to lakes and rivers. Changes in precipitation and resulting discharge patterns will also affect nutrient concentrations. Decreased summer flow will give less dilution of nutrient inputs and higher nutrient concentrations (Whitehead et al., 2009). Higher intensity and frequency of floods and more frequent extreme precipitation events will give increased surface runoff and erosion, increasing the nutrient load to the surface water (Jeppesen et al., 2009). Heavy rainfall may account for a significant proportion of annual phosphorus transfer from agricultural soils under arable crops (Fraser, 1999).

Also internal nutrient loading can increase with rising temperature. Higher temperature increases the release of phosphorus from bottom sediments (Feuchtmayr et al., 2009). The alternation of mixing and long stratification events make polymictic lakes especially vulnerable to this effect. This is because the mixing prevents a build up of high phosphorus gradients at the sediment-water interface which hamper further phosphorus release (Marsden, 1989), and because higher hypolimnetic temperature enhance mineralisation of organic matter and phosphorus release from the sediment (Wilhelm and Adrian, 2008). However, higher thermal stability due to increased lake temperature in deep lakes will delay mixing of nutrients (DeStasio et al., 1996). On the other hand, higher wind speed could enhance the mixing of nutrients (George et al., 2007).

A shorter ice-cover period can increase resuspension of phosphorus from the sediment owing to a longer mixing period, as seen in the Great Lakes (Nicholls, 1998). In contrast, earlier ice break-up in Lake Erken, Sweden, prolonged the P-limitation period for phytoplankton during the mixing period, but increased the nutrient availability in summer; probably owing to enhanced bacterial activity at higher water temperatures in combination with the extended mineralisation period (Blenckner et al., 2002).

For nitrate, extreme precipitation and snow melt events increases the nitrate load to surface waters as nitrate in deposition bypasses the biological sinks (Battarbee et al., 2008; Futter et al., 2009). Higher temperatures will increase mineralisation of soil organic matter. This is likely to be the effect which has the highest impact on nitrate leaching (Battarbee et al., 2008). Nitrate leaching has also been shown to increase both due to soil freezing (Davies et al., 2005; Monteith et al., 2000) and drought (Adamson et al., 1998) events, but the quantitative

importance of these effects are still debated (Borken and Matzner, 2009; Matzner and Borken, 2008).

Past trends and projections

Because of difficulties in disentangling the effects of climatic factors and agricultural practices on nutrient dynamics, there is only a limited number of publications, which, based on long term observations, unequivocally demonstrate the impact of climate change on nutrient loads or concentrations in water bodies. On the contrary, there is a vast number of recent papers which describe modelling results of climate impact on nitrogen dynamics. Much less papers are dedicated to projections of phosphorus dynamics (Andersen et al., 2006).

Phosphorus loading is generally predicted to increase due to climate change potentially resulting in eutrophication problems in areas where precipitation and river flow are projected to increase (Moore, 2007). The seasonality is changed with a larger proportion of the external annual load coming in winter rather than in spring. Both increased agricultural run-off and sewage overflow are the sources for this increase. The internal phosphorus load is also projected to increase with climate change due to stronger water column stability in summer, longer summer stratification periods and decreased bottom water oxygen concentrations in stratified lakes (Wilhelm and Adrian, 2008).

Whitehead et al. (2009b) modelled (INCA) soluble reactive phosphorus (SRP) and nitrate concentrations in UK rivers. SRP concentrations were projected to decrease in winter and spring and increase in summer and autumn in rivers Lambourne and Lugg. The pattern was explained by dilution effects, corresponding to predicted changes in flow patterns (Fig. 1.5). River Tame is more affected by urban and agricultural runoff, giving a flush effect of increased winter flows, and a projected increase in SRP also in winter. Nitrate concentrations were predicted to increase slightly in winter and decrease in summer in rivers Tweed and Tamar. The winter increase may be related to flushing of upland soils. In summer increased temperature, reduced flow and increased residence time give enhanced denitrification and lower nitrate concentrations. However, further downstream, where the input from agriculture and point sources is larger, the effect of reduced dilution in summer becomes more important than that of increased denitrification, giving increased concentrations also in summer.



Figure 3 | Monthly (%) changes in phosphorus for the 2050s.

Figure 1.5 - Results for four different delta change scenarios for 2050 for SRP concentration in River Lambourne and River Lugg, UK (Whitehead et al., 2009b).

Futter et al. (2009) modelled (INCA) the combined effect of climate change and nitrogen deposition scenarios on nitrate concentrations in a Scottish mountain lake. The modelling projected a decline until 2030, larger under the maximum feasible reduction scenario for nitrogen deposition. From about 2030 the nitrate concentrations increase again. At this time the projected deposition levels are stable. The increase may be attributed to the small increase in temperature, stimulating soil microbial activity. Stimulated biomass production due to increased temperature may also contribute to nitrate leaching through increasing the organic nitrogen pool in the soil. The long-term trend indicates that climate change may offset the expected reductions in nitrogen emissions, but nitrate concentrations are predicted to remain lower than today, indicating that the main influence on long-term trends is the deposition.

Sjøeng et al. (2009) modelled (MAGIC) future nitrate leaching to surface water in an upland heathland catchment in southwestern Norway. The modelling was based on two scenarios of greenhouse gas emissions run with two global climate models. Estimates of future rates of nitrogen and carbon processes in the catchment were based on the downscaled temperature scenarios and two different storylines, one assuming changes only in soil processes due to future warming and nitrogen deposition (SLsoil), and the other assuming changes in both vegetation and soil processes (SLsoil + veg). Compared to the present, MAGIC simulated higher future NO₃ leaching for both storylines with much higher rates for SLsoil. The results suggest that differences between the two storylines were larger than differences between the different storyline.

Ducharne (2008) modelled (RIVERSTRAHLER) future nutrient concentrations in the river Seine. There was a positive climate change impact on ammonium concentrations if the point source input was high. The effect was shown to be mainly due to decreased dilution with decreased flow in summer. At low point source input, this effect was less important, and the climate change impact negligible.

Marshall and Randhir (2008) modelled (SWAT) the impact of temperature change only for the Connecticut River Watershed in the period 2060-2100. They estimated an average annual decrease in the load of organic phosphorus and nitrogen. The decrease was related to reduced annual runoff due to increased evapotranspiration, but also increased denitrification. The decrease in organic nitrogen compared to baseline (1960-2000) was 7 and 19 % for low and high warming, respectively. The corresponding numbers for organic phosphorus were 19 and 46%.

Conclusion

Increased rainfall can give both increased fluxes and concentrations of nutrients due to increased runoff and erosion, while summer droughts will give less dilution and higher nutrient concentrations, but also reduced annual run-off and thus reduced nutrient load. The net effect of climate change on nutrient load and concentrations depends on the hydrological conditions in the catchment, but is projected to increase in catchments with increased rainfall, also as a consequence of sewage overflow and increased surface run-off in agricultural areas. Increased temperature and lower oxygen levels in deep waters of lakes also give increased phosphorus release from sediments.

1.5. Water transparency and underwater light conditions

Mechanisms

Underwater light conditions are mainly affected by three factors: mineral turbidity, DOC concentration (colour) and phytoplankton density. Climate may change the underwater light conditions through changes in erosion, affecting both mineral turbidity and background input of nutrients, and through changes in the carbon cycling processes in the catchment affecting the input of humic substances. Moreover, if the stratification pattern of lakes are changed, the depth of the circulating water column will be affected and thereby also the mean underwater light for phytoplankton.

Past trends and projections

The amount of mineral turbidity may increase due to increased erosion caused by increased runoff. In a modelling study by Whitehead et al. (2009a), mineral turbidity was predicted to increase throughout the year, but particularly when increased flow follows a dry period. Turbidity may also increase due to increased wind-driven resuspension of sediments (Naumenko, 2008), but wind projections are uncertain (Moore et al., 2009).

The loading of DOC to surface waters may increase in a warmer and wetter climate (Whitehead et al., 2009a), but the projections for DOC concentration are uncertain (cf. DOC concentration section). Climate change may also have an opposing effect, as increased water temperature gives enhanced lake stratification and increased photo-oxidation of coloured dissolved organic matter (Epp et al., 2007).

For lakes and rivers in the colder regions, future trends in ice cover are also important, as the disappearance of ice cover increases underwater light availability in early spring and late autumn (Leppäranta et al., 2003). In Arctic regions, projected enhanced permafrost thawing is also likely to increase nutrient, sediment, and DOC loading to aquatic systems (Wrona et al., 2006), and thereby decrease underwater light.

A study of trends in Secchi depth in Lake Ladoga was conducted over the period 1905-2003 (regular measurements from 1955 only). The 7085 measurements collected in the ice-free period (May-October) were analysed for temporal trends on annual and monthly basis, and also on spatial basis, related to lake depth. Overall the results showed a significant linear trend, with a decrease in Secchi depth of 0.0073 m/year (Naumenko 2008; Fig. 1.6).



Figure 1.6 - Climatic (interannual) trend of Secchi disk transparency in Lake Ladoga from 1905 to 2003 (Naumenko, 2008).

Conclusion:

Where increased rainfall is predicted, transparency may be reduced due to increased erosion, as well as due to more nutrients and higher phytoplankton biomass in lakes. Potential increases in DOC concentrations will also decrease transparency, while reduced ice cover will dramatically increase light availability during early spring and late autumn.

1.6. Oxygen concentrations

Mechanisms

Dissolved oxygen concentrations decrease as a direct result of temperature increase, but also as an effect of increased respiration, either as a direct response to increased temperature or due to increased nutrient levels (Battarbee et al., 2008). This effect has been confirmed in mesocosm studies (Moss et al., 2003; Moss et al., 2004). The effect will be larger where the water warms faster, i.e. at shallow lake depth (Naumenko, 2008) and with summer low-flow periods in streams (Cox and Whitehead, 2009).

The effect of increased temperature is enhanced by the higher thermal stability, delaying vertical mixing of oxygen (DeStasio et al., 1996) which can lead to extreme hypolimnic oxygen depletion, and increases the risk of occurrence of deep-water anoxia (Jankowski et al., 2006). This may be particularly evident in polymictic shallow lakes. Here oxygen depletion is usually less severe than in dimictic lakes, but with increased temperature stratification events may occur more frequently, last longer and feature higher water temperature, increasing the severity of oxygen depletion (Wilhelm and Adrian, 2008).

Increased wind on the other hand, may increase mixing. At present, changes in wind dynamics cannot be projected, but wind has a strong impact on deep-water ventilation, as seen in lake Baikal (Moore et al., 2009). A reduction in wind speed or change of direction or timing could reduce the deep-water ventilation, while increased wind from the appropriate direction would give an enhancement. Finally, the presence of ice cover has a negative effect on dissolved oxygen concentrations (Karetnikov and Naumenko, 2008; Livingstone, 1993).

Past trends

Pan-European overview to show trends in oxygen concentrations in lakes and rivers are currently not available, but some case studies exist. One such case study is from Danish lakes, where some stratified, sheltered lakes with long retention time have declining oxygen concentrations (Fig.1.7). The total depth of the water layer with acceptable oxygen concentrations for fish is shrinking (Hansen et al., 2008).



Figure 1.7 - Example of two Danish lakes with declining oxygen concentrations. The figures show the depth below which the oxygen concentration was lower than 2 mg I^{-1} . This concentration is the tolerance level for many fish species (Hansen et al., 2008).

Projections

Future climate projections indicate that longer and warmer growing season gives increased algal biomass and reduced hypolimnetic oxygen conditions (Battarbee et al., 2008). Modelling future dissolved oxygen concentrations in the Seine catchment, Ducharne et al. (2008) found reduced concentrations in a future climate, but the impact of climate change increased with the magnitude of point source inputs. With high point source input, the effect of discharge reduction in summer was important in addition to that of increased temperature, while at low point source input, only changes in temperature were important.

Cox and Whitehead (2009) modelled future dissolved oxygen concentrations in the River Thames. They showed that dissolved oxygen concentrations will decrease, and the changes are more significant with higher greenhouse gas emissions and in later periods. The authors conclude that the overall effect on water quality is unlikely to be dramatic, but may well be important. For instance, the changes were larger at the extremes, and more frequently approached or passed critical limits for fish survival. The authors also highlighted the importance of human activities, stating that the impact of future climate change will depend not only on climate change itself, but also on changes in water management practices.

Conclusion

Higher temperature is likely to give decreased dissolved oxygen concentrations in rivers and lakes, due to increased respiration and decreased solubility. Prolonged stratification in lakes will decrease the oxygen concentration in the deep waters of lakes. The effects are largely dependent on nutrient inputs. Future rainfall is also important, regulating the nutrient loads.

1.7. Impact on hazardous substances

Mechanisms, past trends and future projections

The research on the effect of climate change on concentration of hazardous substances is still limited (Barth et al., 2009). The effect will also to some extent depend on the type of hazardous substance in question. Most hazardous substances bind strongly to particles, and are thus likely to be affected by changes in hydrology. Direct temperature effects, on the other hand, will largely be limited to compounds which are volatile (organic pollutants, mercury) and/or subject to degradation processes (organic pollutants).

Climate change may affect future use of pesticides. It is not likely that changes in cropping patterns will affect the use of pesticides to a large extent (Bloomfield et al., 2006). However, increased prevalence of existing pests, weeds and diseases and increased pest resistance can lead to wider and more frequent application of pesticides, and introduction of new products (Bloomfield et al., 2006). On the other hand, in areas severely affected by drought the decline in agriculture will reduce the use of pesticides. Increased temperature will increase the rate of dispersal and give wider distribution of pesticides (Bloomfield et al., 2006).

Climate change will also affect remobilisation of previously released hazardous substances persisting in soil and sediment (Whitehead et al., 2009). Increased frequency of intense rainfall events and floods will give increased soil and sediment erosion, increasing the pollutant concentration in aquatic systems (Battarbee et al., 2008; Bloomfield et al., 2006). More intense rainfall can also give more by-pass flow and more rapid movement of pesticides from agricultural soils to surface water. This will be enhanced by warmer, drier summers giving cracking of the soils (Bloomfield et al., 2006).

Enhanced precipitation and groundwater levels may give increased flow through organic-rich soil horizons, causing mobilisation of mercury and methyl-mercury. Increased soil moisture can also give increased anaerobic conditions and enhance generation of methyl mercury (Battarbee et al., 2008).

Loading of hazardous substances may increase due to sewage overflow and increased leaching of hazardous substances from urban surfaces resulting from increased rainfall. Leaching of heavy metals from old mining tailings may decrease due to dilution by cleaner sediment from hillslopes (Coulthard and Macklin, 2003). However, low flows in summer may cause significantly reduced dilution potential and could generally give increased concentrations of hazardous substances (Bloomfield et al., 2006).

In cold regions, soil warming and thawing of the permafrost is likely to augment the release of stored chemicals to surface waters (Moore et al., 2009).

Increased temperature leads to a higher extent of partitioning of POPs to the air compartment. Since the air compartment is the compartment having the highest degradation potential, an increase in the fraction partitioning to this compartment will result in lower overall persistence (Dalla Valle et al., 2007; Bloomfield et al., 2006. Higher temperatures will also increase volatilisation and degradation of pesticides in soil and surface water (Bloomfield et al., 2006).

In their review of climate change effects on pesticides, Bloomfield et al. (2006) conclude that the overall effect of climate change on pesticide fate and transport is difficult to predict. It is also likely to be very variable. This is due to the uncertainties in climate predictions, the complexity of the natural processes and because of the conflicting implications of the climate-sensitive processes. The authors also suggest that in the long term climate change driven changes in land use may be more important for pesticides in the environment than the direct climate impacts (Bloomfield et al., 2006).

Conclusion:

There is so far too little knowledge on the effects of climate change on hazardous substances. Higher temperature may give increased volatilisation and degradation of some substances. Increased frequency of intensive rainfall will give increased soil and sediment erosion and higher loading to surface water. Drier conditions will give less loading, but may give higher concentrations due to lack of dilution. The use of pesticides is likely to increase, but will be reduced in areas where agriculture is abandoned due to too high drought frequency.

1.8. Pathogenic microbes in water

Pathogens derive both from point sources and diffuse sources (Ferguson et al., 2003). Increased precipitation and higher frequency of intensive rainfall events may lead to increasing occurrence of sewage overflow from drains and treatment plants (Kistemann et al., 2002; Nie et al., 2009). This can give a higher load of pathogenic microbes to surface waters.

High intensity rainfall may also give increased input of pathogens from pastures. Loading of livestock wastes to grasslands generates a potential surface store of pathogens, which may be released through for instance precipitation events (Oliver et al., 2005). Storm events may contribute to many orders of magnitude increases in pathogen loading in watersheds (Ashboldt et al., 2002; Atherholt et al., 1998). Statistically significant correlations have been observed between rainfall and outbreaks of waterborne disease outbreaks in the US (Curriero et al., 2001). Increased discharge may also lead to resuspension of microbes adsorbed in sediments (Ferguson et al., 2003).

Effects of dry periods on water quality have not been adequately studied (Takahashi et al., 2001), although lower water availability clearly reduces dilution and may e.g. concentrate pathogens in surface water (Giovanni, 2004; Byrne et al., 2006). See also Chapter 4.

Conclusion:

In regions which will receive more intensive rainfall, there may be a higher load of pathogenic microbes due to sewage overflow and runoff from agricultural land with animal manure. Drier conditions may give accumulation of pathogens, but also less input from the catchment. The net effect of droughts is therefore more complicated to predict and depends on local land use and hydrology, as well as urban waste water treatment efficiency.

2. Impacts on Freshwater Biodiversity

2.1. Introduction

Species and habitat dynamics in the face of climate change are complex and have many aspects. Increased temperatures and CO_2 concentrations will have an effect on different processes such as photosynthesis, respiration and decomposition and generally speed up these processes. Climate-induced changes in ice cover period, thermal stratification and nutrient availability and longer growing seasons affect species composition and food web structures.

Water temperature is one of the parameters that determine the overall health of aquatic ecosystems. Most aquatic organisms (e.g. salmonid fish) have a specific range of temperatures that they can tolerate, which determines their spatial distribution along a river or on a regional scale (Section 2.2). Climate change could lead to the extinction of some aquatic species or at least could modify their distribution in a river system or move their distribution northwards (Section 2.3). Several indications of climate impact on the functioning and biodiversity of freshwater ecosystems have already been observed, such as northward movement, phenology changes and invasive alien species (Section 2.4).

Enhanced harmful algal blooms in lakes resulting from climate change (Section 2.5) may counteract nutrient load reduction measures and also require a revision of classification systems for ecological status assessment. The inclusion of additional nutrient load reduction measures in river basin management plans may be needed to obtain good ecological status, as required by the Water Framework Directive. Public health may be threatened and the use of lakes for drinking water and recreation may be reduced.

2.2. Direct impacts on species distribution patterns

Mechanisms

The geographic distribution of aquatic organisms is partly controlled by temperature. Most aquatic organisms have (e.g. salmonids) have specific range of temperatures that they can tolerate, which determine their spatial distribution along a river or at a regional scale. Higher water temperatures therefore will lead to changes in distribution more northwards in Europe and to higher elevations. Interactions with other human induced hydromorphological or physico-chemical alterations to habitats further affect the geographical distribution patterns.

The timing of lake ice break-up is of critical ecological importance for lakes because the disappearance of the ice cover has a drastic effect on the underwater light climate, nutrient recycling and oxygen conditions, influencing for instance the production and biodiversity of phytoplankton and the occurrence of winter fish kills.

The projected world wide changes in parameters such as water temperature, light, nutrients availability and water fluctuations have the potential to affect species composition in different regions. These parameters acts as natural physiochemical filters and could become less effective in stopping invasive species (Battarbee et al. 2008; Rahel and Olden 2008; Fig. 2.1).



Impacts of climate change on aquatic systems

Figure 2.1 - Characteristics of aquatic systems that will be altered by climatic change and how these will affect invasive species (Rahel and Olden, 2008).

Past trends and future projections

Many species are predicted to shift their ranges to higher latitudes and altitudes in response to climate warming.



- Hickling et al. (2005) presented evidence for 37 species of nonmigratory British dragonflies and damselflies shifting northwards at their range margins over the past 40 years, seemingly as a result of climate change. All but three species shifted northwards at their range margin (mean 74 km) between 1960–1970 and 1985–1995 (Fig. 2.2a).
- In Flanders the number of records of South-European dragonflies has markedly increased during the last 25 years. Some species such as Lestes barbarus, which were only occasional visitors in the past, now have permanent populations (Fig. 2.2b).



 Note:
 Left: northward shift of range margins of British Odonata, dragonflies and damselflies, between 1960–1970 and 1985–1995. Right: observed occurrence of southern dragonflies in Belgium, 1980–2007.

 Source:
 Hickling et al., 2005 (left) and Biodiversity Indicators, 2006 (right).

Figure 2.2 - Northward shift and changes in occurrence of selected freshwater species

- The American slider turtle *Trachemys scripta* is a long lived species (at least 30 years) that has been introduced world-wide as pets. It is now considered a potential threat to freshwater ecosystems and import of *T. scripta* has been banned in the European Union. *T. scripta* has negative effects on the threatened European pond turtle *Emys orbicularis* through competition for food and basking places. In high numbers they may also modify wetlands and communities of macroinvertebrates and amphibians. Most populations of *T. scripta* are assumed to live in too cold habitats for a successful reproduction but will survive those conditions for decades. Ficetola et al. (2009) modeled projected climatic changes and found that by 2020 this species will increase its suitable breeding habitats dramatically. An A2 scenario would mean that 87 % where feral populations are currently present would be suitable for reproduction in 2020 (similar results for A1, B1 and B2 scenarios).
- Low water levels and a warm summer lead to eutrophication like effects in spite of decreasing external loads of nutrients. Visconti et al. (2008) studied a lake that had suffered from rapid eutrophication during the 1960s and 1970s and went back to oligotrophy during the 1980s and 1990s. In 2003, the warmest year of last century, both phytoplankton and zooplankton densities increased to values typical of those of the eutrophication phase. These values were strongly different from a normal year in the oligotrophic phase.
- A drier climate may reduce water flow and hence water depth in many streams and increase exposure of benthic invertebrates to ultraviolet radiation. Clements et al. (2008)

found through microcosm studies that benthic communities from a metal polluted stream were tolerant of the metal but more sensitive to UV-B exposure than invertebrates from a reference stream.

- Resting stages of eggs may be more prone to wind and animal dispersal in desiccated rock pools. Altermatt et al. (2008) studied metapopulation dynamics of the three planctonic Crustaceans (*Daphnia magna*, *D. longispina* and *D. pulex*) in small Finnish rock pools over a period of 24 years (1982-2006). These systems have high colonization and extinction rates. Colonization rates were much higher in summers with high temperatures and little precipitation.
- Warming may result in lower densities and diversities of aquatic hyphomycetes. According to Barlocher et al. (2008), the water temperature in a first-order stream increased by 4.3 °C, which is an approximate temperature increase projected within 2050 in Ontario, Canada. Their results show that an increase in temperature, by itself, may shorten the residence time of substrate available for aquatic hyphomycetes.
- Earlier spring warming may alter zooplankton dominance dynamics. Dupuis and Hann (2009) performed a laboratory experiment and further modeled a scenario with an earlier spring warming. Their results show a shift in the zooplankton community from larger daphniids to rotifer dominance. Hatching success from resting eggs of the dominant daphniid *D. ambigua* decreased by 50 % but the rotifers were not negatively affected. Rotifers use only temperature as a cue for hatching while *D. ambigue* use both temperature and photoperiod.
- Hering et al (2009) studied Trichoptera taxa potentially endangered by climate change in the European ecoregions. The study projected about 20 % of the Trichoptera species in most South European ecoregions and about 10 % in high mountain range to be potentially endangered For the Iberic-Macaronesia Region it is projected that 30.2 % of all species will be potentially endangered (endemic taxa meeting at least one sensitivity parameter that may lead to exclusion) (Fig. 2.3).



Figure 2.3 - Fraction of Trichoptera taxa potentially endangered by climate change in the European ecoregion (Hering et al., 2009).

Several indications of climate impact on freshwater ecology such as northward movement; phenology changes and invasive alien species thus have already been observed.

2.3. Extinction and reduction of cold-water species

Mechanisms

Most aquatic organisms are ectothermic and therefore temperature affects their physiology and biogeography (Rahel and Olden, 2008). Their dispersal is also limited within hydrographic networks (Buisson, Thuiller et al., 2008). Projected climate changes with increased temperatures world wide could lead to that cold water species may be excluded by warm water species and in worst case get extinct (Brown, Hannah et al., 2007).

Past trends and future projections

- Hari et al. (2006) has for brown trout in Alpine rivers shown, the warming during the last 25 years resulted in an upward shift in thermal habitat that was accelerated by an increase in the incidence of temperature-dependent Proliferative Kidney Disease at the habitat's lower boundary. Because physical barriers restrict longitudinal migration in mountain regions, an upward habitat shift in effect implies habitat reduction, suggesting the likelihood of an overall population decrease.
- Winfield et al. (2008) suggested that climate change has had a direct negative effect on the Arctic char (*Salvelinus alpinus*) living in Windermere, England, as a result of warming and eutrophication. Data from 1982-2006 show that the population of Arctic char had decreased and especially in the most eutrophic parts of the lake where oxygen levels in the hypolimnetic have been very low. At the same time there has been a marked increase in the abundance of warmwater roach (*Rutilus rutilus*). Arctic char is an important food source to the top predator Northern pike (Esox lucius) and the pike population in this lakes system has decreased.
- Buisson et al. (2008) assessed the future distribution of 30 common stream fishes in several French rivers and effects of changes in temperature and precipitation regimes. Overall fish species diversity was expected to increase but probably at the expense of cold-water adapted species. Cold-water adapted species living in headwaters would undergo deleterious effects whereas downstream species would have the possibility of migrating to new habitats.
- Burgmeer et al. (2007) analysed time series of entire communities of macrozoobenthos in lakes and streams in Northern Europe. There were no direct linear effects of temperature and climate indices on species composition and diversity, but using multivariate statistics they were able to show that trends in average temperature have already had profound impacts on species composition in lakes. These significant temperature signals on species composition were evident even though they analysed comparatively short time periods of 10–15 years. Future climate shifts may thus induce strong variance in community composition.
- Daufresne et al (2004) show that fish and invertebrate communities respond to increases in water temperature in the upper Rhône river in France. Fish abundance increased with water temperature, and thermophilic fish and invertebrate taxa replaced to a certain extent cold-water taxa. Daufresne et al. (2007) documented for the whole Rhône river (1985-2004) that changes in community structures of macroinvertebrates were related to high water temperatures and low oxygen content of the water.
- Brown et al. (2007) looked at data from the French Pyrènèes and found that a lower contribution of meltwater (from snow and glaciers) to the streams significantly increased

the diversity of macroinvertebrates. However some cold adapted taxa, like the Diamesa spp. (Diptera) and *Rhyacophila angelieri* (Trichoptera), decreased in abundance.

• Durance and Ormerod (2009) looked at macroinvertebrate data (family level) from 50 southern English streams in relation to water temperature, discharge and water quality over 18 years (1989-2007). They found that river temperatures are increasing year around but that this was insufficient to affect families of macroinvertebrates negatively. More variation was explained by the improving water quality through positive management than by increased winter temperatures.

2.4. Potential genetic adaptation / phenology changes

Mechanisms

Changes in growth season such as the ice free period or periods above a certain temperature will change the life cycle events such as earlier spring phytoplankton bloom, clear water phase, first day of flight and time of spawning of fish. Prolongation of the growing season can have major effect on species which as a result increase the number of cell divisions or generations per year.

Past trends

- Hassall et al. (2007) found that British Odonata have significantly advanced their phenology chronologically (on average by 1.75 days per decade) and with respect to temperature (on average by 3.37 days per one degree Celsius increase) over a 45-year period (1960–2004). This shift represents an extension to the preceding edge of the flight period (first quartile flight date) as opposed to a shift of the flight period as a whole.
- Dingemanse and Kalkman (2008) studied phenological data from 37 dragonfly species (Odonata) in the Netherlands 1995 through 2004. Flight period characteristics were investigated in relation to shifts in temperature. They found that the average Odonata species advanced its timing of flight by a mean of 8.8 days.
- In the Muggelsee, Germany Adrian et al. observed 25-30 days earlier occurrence of algae and Daphnids
- In the large Swedish lakes Vänern, Vättern and Mälaren there have for example been observed about one month earlier spring phytoplankton bloom in the 1990s compared to the 1970s and 1980s (Weyhenmeyer, 2001). In Lake Erken, Sweden, the spring peak of phytoplankton has come about one month earlier during the last 50 years (Weyhenmeyer, 1999; Noges et al., 2007)
- Increase in the length of growing season:
 - George and Hurley (2004) showed on the example of Lake Windermere (UK) that the slow growing late summer phytoplankton species, such as *Ceratium* and *Microcystis*, are particularly responsive to the extension of the growing season as one additional cell division in late summer can have a major effect on their maximum biomass.
 - Among animal species, the number of generations per year may increase with important implications on the balance in the trophic cascade. For example the *Baetis rhodani* (Ephemeroptera), one of the most common mayfly species in streams, has one generation in northern or higher altitude locations in Europe, a winter and a summer generation in Central Europe, and one winter and two summer generations in Southern Europe (Bauernfeind and Humpesch, 2001).

2.5. Risk of increased cyanobacterial blooms and other harmful algae

Mechanisms

Algal blooms in freshwater are predominantly cyanobacteria, some of which produce toxins. Cyanobacterial harmful algal blooms (CHAB) have been shown to increase worldwide for both natural forces and human activities. Climatic change with increased temperatures will allow temperature limited genera to expand both temporarily and spatially in subtropical regions (Hudnell, Dortch et al., 2008). Altered water runoffs and wind induced disturbance may also change population dynamics and potentially affect CHABs. The invasive Asiatic zebra mussel, *Dreissena polymorpha*, has been shown to filter feed on only non toxic phytoplankton thereby increasing CHABs.

Past trends and future projections

- The subtropical filamentous cyanobacterium *Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii* thrives in waters that have high temperatures, a stable water column and high nutrient concentrations: it has recently spread rapidly in temperate regions and is now commonly encountered throughout Europe (Dyble et al., 2002). The spreading to drinking and recreational water supplies has caused international public health concerns due to the potential production by this cyanobacterium of toxins.
- Climate change will generally favour and stabilize the dominance of cyanobacteria in phytoplankton communities, resulting in increased threat of harmful cyanobacteria and enhanced health risks, particularly in water bodies used for public water supply and bathing (Jöhnk et al. 2008; Mooij et al. 2005; Fig. 2.4).
- The increased occurrence of *mixotrophic* or motile algal species such as *Ceratium hirundinella* (Anneville et al., 2002) and metalimnetic maxima of the cyanobacterium *Planktothrix rubescens* (Walsby, 2005) are phenomena related to phosphorus depletion in the epilimnion. This depletion is caused both by loading reduction measures and intensified thermal stratification that isolates the upper mixed layer from the more nutrient rich bottom layers. Due to large body size, these algae are better protected from zooplankton grazing and may build up high standing stocks by the end of the stratification period.
- Shatwell et al. (2008) found that the timing of the phytoplankton peak was strongly dependent on the length of the ice cover while the peak of the cladocerans was dependent on ice cover length and photoperiod. This lead to an uncoupling in peaks, leaving a loophole between maxima of spring phytoplankton and zooplankton. Earlier and thus longer spring periods in years without ice-cover favor cold water adapted diatoms until water temperature increases or they get limited by silicon. This will leave more phosphate for filamentous cyanobacteria (Oscillatoriales) which may exploit the loophole and establish dominance. Therefore, warming and earlier springs may promote cold-adapted diatoms and filamentous cyanobacteria (Fig. 2.5).



Note: (a) the cold summer of 1956, (b) the average summer of 1991, and, (c) the hot summer of 2003. Top panels show the temperature contour plots. The second row shows contour plots of the turbulent diffusivities. The third row shows the surface concentrations of Microcystis (solid lines) and the depth-integrated population size of Microcystis (dashed lines). The fourth row shows the surface concentrations of diatoms (orange lines) and green algae (green lines). Note the difference in scale between the Microcystis concentrations (third row) and the concentrations of diatoms and green algae (fourth row).

Source: Jöhnk et al., 2008.

Figure 2.4 - Model simulation of hydrodynamics and phytoplankton dynamics during three contrasting summers in Lake Nieuwe Meer (the Netherlands) (Jöhnk et al., 2008).



Fig. 1 Temperature and timing of the spring period in warm and cold years in Lake Müggelsee: (a) 1987, a cold year; solid line: water temperature; broken line: mean water temperature in the spring period; shaded areas: cumulative biovolumes of phytoplankton – dotted: cyanobacteria; vertical lines: diatoms; empty: other algae; horizontal lines: ice cover. Arrows from left to right: beginning of the spring period (when water reaches 3 °C); phytoplankton peak; end of the spring period (clear water phase or cladoceran peak); (b) 1988, a warm year without ice cover, legend same as for part (a).

Figure 2.5 - Phytoplankton development in Lake Müggelsee, Germany in a) a cold year (1987) and b) a warm year (1988) (Shatwell et al., 2008).

2.6. Conclusions

- Southern species will move further north and to higher altitudes. Species of colder regions will move north and to higher altitudes or will disappear when their migration is hampered (e.g. due to habitat fragmentation).
- Of all ecosystems, freshwater ecosystems will have the highest proportion of species threatened with extinction due to climate change (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005b, IPCC 2007).
- Climate warming will aggravate eutrophication effects with enhanced phytoplankton blooms, favouring and stabilising the dominance of harmful cyanobacteria in phytoplankton communities, resulting in increased threats to the ecological status of lakes and enhanced health risks, particularly in water bodies used for public water supply and bathing. This may counteract nutrient load reduction measures.
- There are European examples of changes in life cycle events (phenology) such as earlier spring phytoplankton bloom, appearance of clear-water phase, first day of flight and spawning of fish. In several European lakes, phytoplankton and zooplankton blooms are occurring one month earlier than 30–40 years ago.
- Effects of warming may interact with pollutants in the environment causing synergistic negative effects (Clements et al., 2008).

3. Impacts on ecological status of lakes and rivers

3.1. Introduction

The ecological status in lakes and rivers can be affected by climate change in a number of ways. The reference conditions can be affected, the pressures can be affected, and the thresholds often used to set the WFD target for different groups of freshwater biota can be affected through different mechanisms. These three main effects can also cause time lags for restoration /recovery after implementation of mitigation or adaptation measures to reduce the pressures. These effects are illustrated in Fig.3.1.



Figure 3.1 - Potential impacts of climate change on pressures, thresholds and reference conditions for a biological indicator that increases with pressure (such as tolerant taxa) (Thaulow and Lyche-Solheim, 2009).

The figure illustrates that climate change may cause degradation of water bodies to happen at lower pressure levels than before, and may also require more mitigation measures for the water bodies to recover. The recovery may also be incomplete if the reference conditions have changed.

While the impact of climate change on other pressures is outlined in Chapter 2, this chapter will focus more closely on the impact of climate change on reference conditions and on thresholds, since this is of major importance for water managers when making river basin management plans and programme of measures to reach the WFD target in European lakes and rivers.

3.2. Impacts on reference conditions

Mechanisms

Under climate change, reference conditions (sensu WFD) may change, as identified by the Euro-limpacs project (Battarbee et al., 2008). Reference conditions, as defined by a set of biological indicators for different quality elements (phytoplankton, benthic flora, benthic fauna, fish), may change because of changes in the abiotic conditions, such as increased water colour, increased temperature, changes in flow regimes and changes in the bottom substrate. Such changes may affect the biogeographic patterns, as well as the phenology of species. The abiotic changes may also cause the type of a water body to change, e.g. from clearwater to humic (Northern Europe), from non-stratified to stratified, from freshwater to saline, or even from a permanent to a temporary water body drying out in the summer (Southern Europe). In cases where flow regimes and temperature in small rivers become sufficiently altered, the biological indicators normally found under reference conditions can be endangered.

Past trends and future projections

Long-term trends from reference sites are difficult to find, since such dataseries are rare in Europe. One example is from the Norwegian reference lake Atnsjøen, that has been regularly monitored for all biological quality elements since 1990. The lake is situated at ca. 700 m altitude in a pristine catchment close to the mountain area of Rondane.

The results for phytoplankton (Fig. 3.2) do not yet show any trends in phytoplankton mean or maximum biomass (based on 5 samples per year), but this time-series is a good basis to analyse such trends in the years to come. If the biomass will exceed the high/good boundary for most years in the future, then this boundary should be revised.

The results for fish (Fig. 3.3) show that the biomass of char has become consistently lower than that of trout for all years after 2002, whereas this was not the case in the previous years, except for a couple of single years. This may be related to climate change, since the arctic char is more vulnerable to high temperatures than the brown trout.



Figure 3.2 - Phytoplankton biomass in Lake Atnsjøen, Norway. Data from Pål Brettum, NIVA. Mean biomass is based on 5 samples taken monthly during the growing season (May-October) each year. The light blue line is the preliminary high/good class boundary for mean phytoplankton biomass for this lake type.



Figure 3.3 - Fish biomass in Lake Atnsjøen, Norway. Data from Trygve Hesthagen, NINA. Data shows catch per unit effort (CPUE) as number of fish per 100 m2 gill nets per night.

Studies from CEMAGREF (Lasalle and Rochard, 2008), done these last years, demonstrate the effect of increased temperature and salinity on the fish fauna in the Garonne/Gironde river in southern France. The water temperature has increased by 1 °C over the last 20 years in the Gironde Estuary. This increase of temperature has contributed to the disappearance of the fish "eperlan" in the estuary of the Gironde river and of the "flet" that have been replaced by "anchois" due to the decrease of fresh water in the Estuary. A decrease of the biomass has also been observed. At the same time, a lot of invasive species (fauna and flora) are appearing

in the Garonne district having negative impacts on the local species (e.g. eperlan, anchois). The quality indicator used to set reference conditions is based on the endemic fishes and invertebrate species for the Garonne river, but this indicator may have to be modified in the years to come.

Future projections suggest that the reference values for indicators based on biomass will increase in most lake and river types for all biological quality elements, due to warmer water, longer growing season and increased background inputs of nutrients from the catchment. Concerning species composition it is likely that reference values for indicators based on sensitive taxa mostly will decrease (as in the Garonne river), since these taxa often are coldwater adapted, whereas the reference values for indicators based on tolerant taxa mostly will increase. Reference values based on species diversity (number of taxa) may increase or decrease depending on the type of water body (esp. location relative to altitude and latitude). Southern and lowland rivers and lakes may get lower number of taxa, whereas northern and highland rivers and lakes may get higher number of taxa. This is due to the unimodal (bell-shaped) relationship of species number with temperature: most species are present at intermediate temperatures (Moss et al., 2009).

Monitoring of reference sites will be essential to understand and appropriately respond to the potential impact of climate change on reference conditions of water bodies across Europe.

3.3. Potential impacts on thresholds for the good/moderate boundary

Mechanisms

A critical concern in the management of freshwater ecosystems is the attempt to prevent water bodies from crossing key **thresholds**, where systems may change abruptly and involve a switch to regimes that are difficult to restore (cf. Andersen et al., 2009). If thresholds are moving to lower parts of the pressure gradients, this is a serious challenge for the programme of measures. Such moving can be anticipated from direct and indirect effects of higher temperature and hydrological changes on the biological quality elements. For example, the tolerance level of cold-water species of fish and benthic fauna to eutrophication/organic load and acidification pressure may decrease due to lower oxygen concentration in warmer water. Likewise, sensitive macrophytes may have lower tolerance limits to eutrophication if the underwater light climate is reduced due to increased mineral turbidity or humic substances. With reduced underwater light, tolerant phytoplankton taxa, such as the shade-adapted bluegreens, may dominate at lower pressure levels than before. In Southern Europe, reduced water levels in rivers and lakes will probably decrease the tolerance levels to other pressures.

Past trends and future projections

Although thresholds and reference conditions for some systems and pressures have been well studied e.g. water bodies suffering from eutrophication or acidification (Lyche-Solheim et al., 2008), there is much less empirical evidence about how climate change may cause thresholds to be crossed, or may cause thresholds to move (Fig. 3.1).

One example of a climate induced crossing of the threshold for chlorophyll in deep Alpine lakes is seen in Lake Constance, where the chlorophyll threshold or WFD target was exceeded in a year with insufficient spring circulation due to rapid warming of the surface layer (Straile et al., 2003; Fig. 3.4). Such situations may become more common with climate change and

will pose special challenges for water managers, since additional nutrient reduction measures will be needed to counteract this effect.



Figure 3.4 - Temperature (left) and chlorophyll (right) profiles in Lake Constance from Straile et al., 2003. Y-axis is depth in m. Yellow lines and bars represent years with normal spring mixing, and light blue lines and bars are years without complete spring circulation. The orange vertical line is the WFD target for this lake type.

Although some European freshwaters are now recovering from pollution, all face pressure from climate change directly or indirectly. The most vulnerable systems are those already close to critical thresholds, for example those that contain endemic taxa that are trapped geographically, or those most susceptible to a decrease in oxygen concentrations such as eutrophic lakes with small hypolimnia.

3.4. Projections for major ecological changes in rivers and lakes

A recent paper by Moss et al., 2009 summarizes the impacts of climate change on different types of rivers and lakes. Table 3.1 extracts the most essential information from this paper. The most common effects will be:

- increased algal blooms in lakes,
- increased biomass of benthic algae in rivers,
- loss of cold-water species, such as salmonid and coregonid fish, and other sensitive taxa,
- increased dominance of pollution tolerant taxa in all biological quality elements,
- increased invasions of exotic species.

Region	Lake or river type	Climate change impacts on biological quality elements Most effects are caused by increased temperatures, changes in river flow/water level/floods/droughts and increased risks of eutrophication and hydromorphological alterations.
	Fastflowing upland rivers	Reduction of cold-water species: salmonids and coregonids, increased biomass of benthic algae.
	Slowflowing lowland rivers	Reduction of cold-water species: salmonids and coregonids.
	Shallow lowland lakes	Reduction of cold-water species: salmonids and coregonids, increased biomass of phytoplankton, reduction of sensitive macrophytes. Invasions by exotic species.More algal blooms.
Northern	Deep lakes	Reduction of cold-water species: salmonids and coregonids, increased biomass of phytoplankton and more harmful algal blooms, invasions by exotic species.
	Fastflowing upland rivers	Replacement of cool-water species with warmer water species. Increased biomass of benthic algae and tolerant taxa. Invasion of exotic species.
	Slowflowing lowland rivers	Loss of many fish species. Fish kills due to deoxygentaion. Loss of sensitive benthic fauna species (deoxygenation). Invasion of exotic species.
	Shallow lakes	Greater, but less diverse plant growth, risk of summer fish kills, esp. piscivores. Dominance of cyprinid fish. Invasion of undesirable exotics.
Central	Deep lakes	Almost complete loss of salmonid and coregonid fish, total dominance of cyprinid fish, increased biomass of phytoplankton and more harmful algal blooms, invasions by exotic species.
	Fastflowing upland rivers	Major loss of biodiversity for all quality elements due to deoxygenation and salinisation, dominance by pollution tolerant taxa and exotic species.
	Slowflowing lowland rivers	Fish kills. Loss of biodiversity for most quality elements. Severe invasions of exotic species.
Southern	Shallow lakes	Loss of many species, more harmful algal blooms, major loss of endemic fish and amphibians.
	Deep lakes/reservoirs	Loss of littoral zone due to severe water level drawdown in reservoirs, more intense and frequent algal blooms.

Table 3.1 - Major impacts of climate change on ecological status in different types of lakes and rivers (modified from Moss et al., 2009).

The effects are caused by:

- increased temperature stress,
- changes in river flow/water level/floods/droughts,
- increased erosion in upland rivers in the northern and central European regions
- increased risks of eutrophication and deoxygentation (see Chapter 2),

- hydromorphological alterations (flood protection, urbanisation, new transport infrastructure, irrigation and hydropower),
- salinisation primarily in the southern region.

Evolutionary adaptations in cold-water species may compensate for some of these effects, but will most likely be too slow relative to the speed of climate change to prevent ecological damage. The selection pressure will also favour warm-water species, thereby making the situation even worse for cold-water species.

The sum of all these effects will be a deterioration of ecological status in most lake and river types.

4. Impacts on human health and socioeconomic costs¹

4.1. Mechanisms

Access to safe water remains an extremely important global health issue. The risk of outbreaks of water-borne diseases increases where standards of water, sanitation and personal hygiene are low. Extreme precipitation events leading to floods or droughts can have direct and indirect health effects. Flooding can cause diarrhoeal diseases, vector-borne diseases, respiratory infections, skin and eye infections. Floods also have other effects with health consequences: damage to infrastructure for health care and water and sanitation. Droughts or extended dry spells can impair provision of safe water leading to water-related health problems, for example through reducing the volumes of river flow, which may increase the concentration of effluent pathogens, posing a problem for the clearance capacity of treatment plants. Intestinal infectious diseases that are transmitted through water are sensitive to climate and weather factors. Such diseases are the main causes of infectious diarrhoea and cause significant amounts of illness each year in Europe.

Increased surface runoff after extreme precipitation events can flush pathogenic bacteria, other contaminants and nutrients into surface waters and thus influence bathing water quality negatively, and also increase the need for more thorough purification of raw water in drinking water supply systems based on surface waters.

Higher temperatures can result in a longer bathing season, but can also cause prolonged blooms of potentially toxic algae.

4.2. Past trends and projections

In Europe the risk of infectious disease outbreaks related to a climate change impact on microbial water quality is relatively small due to the standard of water treatment and distribution infrastructure. Nevertheless, the incidence of pathogens is increasing.

¹ The first paragraphs in Sections 4.1 and 4.2 are extracted from Impacts of Europe's changing climate – 2008 indicator-based assessment, Chapter 5.10.4 (EEA, 2008)

Approximately 20 % of the population in Western Europe is affected by episodes of diarrhoea each year (van Pelt et al., 2003). Such infections have a significant economic impact in terms of treatment costs and loss of working time (Roberts et al., 2003).

Heavy precipitation has been linked to a number of drinking-water outbreaks of Cryptosporidium (a pathogen causing a diarrhoeal illness) in Europe, due to spores infiltrating drinking water reservoirs from springs and lakes and persisting in the water distribution system (Lake et al., 2005; Semenza and Nichols, 2007). In Germany, bacteriological and parasitic parameters spiked considerably during extreme runoff events (Kistemann et al., 2002). New pathogens have also emerged in recent years. Examples of an increased risk of infectious disease outbreaks have been found in the United Kingdom (Reacher et al., 2004), Finland (Miettinen et al., 2001), Czech Republic (Kříž et al., 1998) and Sweden (Lindgren, 2006). Key water-borne infections in Europe are monitored..

The European Union publishes every year a report on bathing water quality in the different member states. This report checks e.g. the compliance of water bodies with the new Bathing Water Directive of 2006 (EU, 2006). For inland water a positive trend towards more water bodies with a good bathing water quality is observable (Fig. 4.1). The Atlantic, North Sea, Baltic Sea and Black Sea regions do best compared to mandatory values, only the inland bathing areas of the Mediterranean fall below the European average in complying with mandatory values (EEA, 2009).



Source: WISE Bathing Water Quality database based on annual reports by EU Member States.

Figure 4.1 - Inland bathing water quality in Europe (EEA, 2009).

Predictions for future development of human health related disease vectors are highly uncertain. On one hand a further improvement of bathing water quality can be expected due to stricter implementation of environmental regulations. On the other hand the water quality in

inland surface water bodies strongly depends on the future land use intensity and precipitation pattern.

A recent report on Climate change and Bathing water (Roijackers and Lürling, 2007) concludes that climate change in the Netherlands will result in favourable environments for a myriad of new pathogens and vectors, including invasions by new disease vectors to European surface waters from the (sub)tropics (Tab. 4.1). The same is probably largely true for Europe as a whole, with Central and Southern Europe being most vulnerable to these new vectors due to higher population densities and a warmer climate than Northern Europe.

Table 4.1 - Vector-borne pathogens transmitted by waterborne organisms (compiled from WHO, 1990; Chan et al., 1999): ++ = slightly increased risk, +++ = increased risk in The Netherlands (Roijackers and Lürling, 2007).

pathogen	disease	vector	presence	increased risk
Plasmodium spp.	malaria	Anopheles spp.	(sub)tropics	+++
dengue virus	dengue	Aedes aegypti	(sub)tropics	+++
Trematodes	schistosomiasis (bilharzia)	snails	(sub)tropics	++
West-Nile virus	West-Nile virus	mosquitos	tropics	++



Figure 4.1 - Box-plots of water temperatures at which surface scums of five most prominent cyanobacteria genera were found. Boxes show medians and 25th and 75th quartiles, bars indicate 10th and 90th percentiles, and dot symbols represent outliers. (Roijackers and Lürling, 2007).

Even slightly increased temperatures could lead to higher biomass and dominance of cyanobacteria in some aquatic systems (Fernald et al., 2007). Moreover, climate related increased risk of eutrophication will further enhance the formation of algal and toxic

cyanobacterial blooms (Fig. 4.1), that can cause human diseases. Bathing is not recommended in such water bodies due to the existence of cyanobacterial toxins that may exceed the WHO threshold (WHO, 2003).

The measures already taken to reduce eutrophication (reducing nutrient loading; improved water treatment) have been at least partly successful in many river basins of Europe (Lyche-Solheim et al., 2010). There is a risk that climate change will counteract this success (Moss et al., 2009), and that the public health risk for waterborne diseases is increased (Fig. 4.2).



Figure 4.2 - Children playing on the shore of Lake Reeuwijk (Roijackers and Lürling, 2007).

Increased colour (DOC) caused by a combination of climate change and reduced sulphate deposition (see Chapter 1, Section 1.3) increases the required DOC removal capacity in drinking water treatment, and significantly affects treatment process selection, design and operation. As an illustration, an increase in raw water color from 20 to 35 mg Pt L⁻¹ increased the required coagulant dose, sludge production, number of backwashes per day and residual DOC by 64 %, 64 %, 87 % and 26 %, respectively. In addition, hydraulic capacity and filter run time decreased by 10 % and 47 %, respectively (Eikebrokk et al., 2004).

Sport fishing may also be negatively impacted by climate change, since most of the attractive fish species (salmonids, coregonids) will become reduced or lost (Reinhartz, 2007 and Chapter 3.2). The concentrations of hazardous substances (e.g. pesticides, mercury) are already too high in the fish in many areas, causing governmental regulations to restrict the consumption. An example from Norway is the Lake Mjøsa, where high concentrations of PCB and mercury were detected requiring diet regulations not to eat trout more than once a month (Løvik, 2008). As climate change has an influence on the water-chemistry, such as more coloured waters and thereby higher bioavailability of mercury, it will also have an effect on the concentration of contaminants in fish.

Boating, walking along the shore and bird watching are activities related to water-bodies but without direct contact with the water, so no health risk is associated with climate change impacts on water quality and biodiversity. Nevertheless, these activities can indirectly be

influenced by climate change, e.g. algal blooms compromise the aesthetic perception of a water body, and dominance of alien species can reduce the chance to see rare bird species. Thus the positive impacts of these activities on human well-being can be reduced. Moreover, the socio-economic value of tourism and properties in riparian areas can be reduced.

4.3. Conclusion

The impact of climate change on water quality, biodiversity and ecological status of inland surface waters may cause increased risks to human health and pose a threat to recreational water use. Related socio-economic impacts can be expected, including increased costs for drinking water supply and sanitation, as well as reduced property prices and tourism in riparian areas. Future land use intensity, rain patterns and level of implementation of environmental and other regulations, such as the WFD and the Common Agricultural Policy, will affect the magnitude of these impacts.

5. Possible adaptation measures

5.1. Adaptation to climate change impacts on water quality and biodiversity

Mechanisms

Society needs to avoid the unmanageable through the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions and manage the unavoidable through adaptation measures (Scientific Expert Group on Climate Change, 2007). Adaptation is very much about managing the risks associated with future climate change impacts. Adaptation to climate change is defined by the IPCC as 'Adjustment in natural or human systems in response to actual or expected climatic stimuli or their effects, which moderates harm or exploits beneficial opportunities' (IPCC 2007). Adaptation aims particularly at reducing unavoidable negative impacts already in the shorter term, reducing vulnerability to present climate variability, and exploiting opportunities provided by climate change. Adaptation includes pro-active and reactive measures, which relate mainly to planned adaptation, as well as autonomous actions. Mitigation aims at avoiding the unmanageable impacts, while adaptation aims at managing the unavoidable impacts. Adaptation occurs primarily at transboundary (e.g. river catchments), sub-national and local levels, and therefore involves many levels of decision-making. As a consequence of that, adaptation has to be tailor-made to the specifics of the geographic area considered in terms of landscape types and sectors involved. National strategies provide the framework for adaptation actions, many of which have to be implemented at sub-national and local levels. The relevance of adaptation at the EU level is primarily concerned with coordinating information sharing, and encouraging an appropriate, proportionate and integrated implementation of adaptation measures at the different levels. The integration of adaptation into EU sectoral policies, structural/cohesion funds together with fostering research and involving stakeholders are key instruments in this respect (EEA, 2008).

Climate change can result in significant changes in the variables that affect the quality of water as described earlier in this report. Physical changes may occur in water temperature, ice-cover, stratification of water masses in lakes and water discharge including water level and retention. Chemical changes relate in particular to oxygen content, nutrient loading and

water colour while the biological changes are affecting the structure and functioning of freshwater ecosystems. Changes in these variables lead to impacts on all the socio-economic and environmental goods and services that depend on these systems directly or indirectly (EEA, 2008 and Chapter 4 above). Key economic sectors, which will need to adapt through integration within sectoral policies at European and national levels, include energy supply, health, water management, agriculture, tourism and transport. Adaptation strategies should also consider the costs and the benefits of each measure and of the combinations of measures.

Adaptation to climate variability and change is a process of assessing and responding to present and future impacts, planning to reduce the risk of adverse outcomes, and increasing adaptive capacity and resilience in responding to multiple stresses. A key step is to make use of the best available science to identify conditions and risks as well as their relevance for adaptation strategies and actions to allow adapting to new boundary conditions due to climate change. Any analysis carried out as part of river basin management planning should take into account the existence of uncertainty and, where possible, use a range of climate projections including a variety of climate models, emissions scenarios and timescales. Proper staff training and cooperation between different levels of authorities and sectors, also need to be considered in efforts to build up adaptive capacity for management under climate change. Adapting to climate change implies new requirements regarding the type and the extent of data collected for river basin management. Long time series are judged essential for understanding the changes of physical variables and selected species over time. (EEA 2009a, EC, 2009).

Past trends

At the 2007 UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) Bali conference, the urgency of responding effectively to climate change through both adaptation and mitigation activities was recognised by a larger number of countries than ever before (EEA, 2008).

The WFD, which entered into force on 22 December 2000, introduced a significant shift in regulatory approach from one of multiple instruments with separate (but overlapping) objectives to one providing an integrated framework covering all variables affecting the status of water bodies and the water needs of terrestrial ecosystems and wetlands that depend directly on aquatic ecosystems. The effectiveness of the WFD in the face of climate change clearly depends on the extent to which scenarios are introduced into the river basin management plan process. (EEA, 2007)

In the context of the WFD Common Implementation Strategy, an activity on Climate Change and Water was initiated in 2007 to produce guidance on how EU Member States should incorporate consideration of climate variability and change into the implementation of EU water policy. This activity is supported by a Strategic Steering Group (SSG). In 2008 the Water Directors agreed key messages on Climate Change and Water, and the SSG exchanged practices in incorporating climate change in the first River Basin Management Plan (EEA 2009a). EU Member States are at different stages of preparing, developing and implementing national adaptation strategies, depending on the nature of the observed impacts, assessment of vulnerability and capacity to adapt (EEA, 2008). Most European Member States have started drafting adaptation programmes or strategies, and a great number of regional adaptation projects were launched in recent years. However, experience in designing adaptation strategies and implementing policies is still limited (EEA 2009b). A brief overview of the status of European countries is presented later in this chapter.

Future projections

In 2006 the Stern Review (Stern 2006) recognised that adaptation in developed countries is still at an early stage despite well-developed market structures and the relatively high capacity to adapt. It suggested that governments had a role in providing a clear policy framework to guide effective adaptation by individuals and firms in the medium and longer term. In 2007, the European Commission Green Paper on adaptation (EC, 2007) stressed that early action is most important to prevent reactive and un-planned adaptation as response to more frequent crises and natural disasters. With late or no action, damages and associated economic cost would rise sharply until 2080. The Green Paper also calls for an integration of climate change adaptation into existing policies. It stresses that early adaptation will bring economic benefits and may even help to gain competitive advantages through the development of new technologies. The Green Paper analyses how adaptation efforts could be integrated into existing sectoral EU policies, how Community funding programmes could take climate change and adaptation into account, and also explores the scope for developing new policy responses, in particular with respect to financial services and insurance, and spatial planning. The Green Paper announces that a systematic check of how climate change will affect all Community policy and legislation should be carried out by 2009. The White Paper of the European Commission "Adapting to climate change: Towards a European framework for action" (COM/2009/147) was issued in April 2009 and sets out a framework to reduce the EU's vulnerability to the impact of climate change (EEA, 2009a; EC, 2009).

5.2. Concrete adaptation measures

i. Measures for adaptation related to the WFD

WFD offers important tools for adapting to climate change impacts. In particular, the integrated approaches to land, water and ecosystem management, combined with the cyclical review of progress, are all consistent with the ideals of adaptive management. However, sometimes it is not easy to distinguish regular water management issues and measures from adaptation measures. Some of the river basin management planning steps are considered more critical than others in our ability to prepare for climate change, especially in the short term (EC, 2009; Table 5.1):

Table 5.1 - Criteria to help select adaptation measure	res (EEA, 2009a).
--	-------------------

Criterion	Sub-criteria	Guiding questions to be asked
Effectiveness of adaptation	Adaptation function	Does the measure provide adaptation in terms of reducing impacts, reducing exposure, enhancing resilience or enhancing opportunities?
	Robustness to uncertainty	Is the measure effective under different climate scenarios and different socio-economic scenarios?
	Flexibility	Can adjustments be made later if conditions change again or if changes are different from those expected today?
Side-effects	No regret	Does the measure contribute to more sustainable water management and bring benefits in terms of also alleviating already existing problems?
	Win-win (or win-lose)?	• Does the measure entail side-benefits for other social, environmental or economic objectives?
	Spill-over effects	Does the measure affect other sectors or agents in terms of their adaptive capacity?
		Does the measure cause or exacerbate other environmental pressures?
Efficiency/ costs and benefits	Low-regret	Are the benefits the measure will bring high relative to the costs? (If possible, consider also distributional effects (e.g. balance between public and private costs), as well as non-market values and adverse impacts on other policy goals)
Framework	Equity and legitimacy	Who wins and who loses from adaptation?
conditions for decision-		Who decides about adaptation? Are decision-making procedures accepted by those affected and do they involve stakeholders?
making		Are there any distributional impacts of the climate change impacts or of the adaptation measures?
	Feasibility of	What barriers are there to implementation?
	implementation	• Technical
		• Social (number of stakeholders, diversity of values and interests, level of resistance)
		• Institutional (conflicts between regulations, degree of cooperation, necessary changes to current administrative arrangements)
	Alternatives	Are there alternatives to the envisaged adaptation measure that would e.g. be less costly or would have fewer negative side-effects?
	Priority and urgency	How severe are the climate impacts the adaptation measure would address relative to other impacts expected in the area/river basin/country?
		When are the climate change impacts expected to occur? At what timescales does action need to be taken?

ii. Adaptation measures for point source pollution control

Sewage treatment plants continue to be one of the main sources of point pollution discharges in Europe. The main pollution problems associated with these are the nutrients nitrates and phosphorus. Uncontrolled or accidental discharge of untreated wastewaters into environmental waters is particularly problematic from an environmental perspective, due to the high levels of nutrients contained. The risk of this kind of discharge is particularly high in sewerage systems which combine storm water and wastewater; overflows of the system into water bodies, due to flash floods for instance, can contain important amounts of untreated wastewater and its pollutants (EEA, 2009b).

Pre-emptive reduction of point source pollution

The decrease in rivers' summer discharge predicted for various regions in Europe implies a reduction of the carrying capacity of the water bodies, i.e. discharges of pollutants that are currently acceptable and unproblematic can result in unacceptable pollution levels in future. The pre-emptive reductions of point source pollution in view of these decreases in discharges are a clear example of a pro-active adaptation measure. The Netherlands are currently addressing point-source pollution taking into consideration the predicted impacts of climate change on low water flow. Measures of this type specifically targeting nutrient loading from point sources are also recommended for reducing the risk of eutrophication in lakes.

Improving industry risk management

Industrial accidents leading to pollution of water bodies can have strong impacts on ecosystems already under additional stress due to climate change impacts. Finland has addressed this risk by heightening requirements for industrial security and for contingency plans. In addition to environmental benefits, the measure has clear additional benefits for human health.

Reducing phosphate load in wastewaters

As a nutrient the phosphate present in wastewaters can lead to eutrophication of surface waters. Climate change increases this risk due to the reduced river flows and increased frequency of flash floods – with increased storm and sewage water overflow – predicted for some regions. One measure addressing this is the banning or minimising of phosphate in relevant domestic products; many European countries have banned (e.g. UK) or drastically reduced (e.g. Germany) phosphates in laundry cleaning products by law. A second measure which makes use of the economic value of phosphorus and addresses its presence in other domestic sources is reclaiming the phosphorus content of wastewaters. This technique has been applied in pilot projects in Germany. Phosphorus reclamation is considered as possibly a very effective solution for maintaining high water quality in a changing climate, at the same time delivering economic benefits.

Separation of rainwater and sewage

Untreated wastewater effluents reaching surface waters constitute a serious pollution problem. A possibility, both when building new canalisation and renovating existing one, is to separate wastewater and storm water. This is usually a comparatively expensive option, but it strongly reduces the risk of untreated wastewater entering environmental waters. More cost-effective ways of adapting old infrastructure which mixed rainwater and sewage to this newer standard have been implemented in pilot projects in the cities in Germany. In one of the approaches used - all of which separate rainwater from sewerage - new tubing was placed within existing canalisation, thus separating the two streams.

Incorporating climate change considerations into discharge licensing schemes

New forms of discharge license agreements include provisions that address uncertainty due to climate change. Licenses from point sources discharges are reviewed periodically; changes related to climate change impacts, as well as changes in other parameters such as population behaviour and available technology can thus be reflected in the revised agreements. In the UK, discharge licenses of wastewater treatment plants are reviewed every 5 years to this purpose. In Belgium, regulations aim to tie up wastewater discharges to the carrying capacity of the receiving water body. Changes to the system's carrying capacity due to climate change will be reflected in the pollution load the system is allowed to take up.

Improvement of wastewater infrastructure capacity

Untreated wastewater effluents reaching surface waters constitutes a serious pollution problem, mainly due to the risk of eutrophication of surface waters due to nutrients, but also due to a variety of other pollutants present in wastewater. In many regions the frequency of these extreme events such as flash floods is expected to increase due to climate change. Improvements in the capacity of the treatment plants or in the storage capacity can address this problem. An example of a way to increase capacity that does not imply major new infrastructure works is the wastewater control system (LISA) implemented by the Berlin water service provider. In case of heavy rainfalls a computer-controlled system automatically coordinates all 148 pumps to shift the mix of storm- and wastewater through the connected sewerage system to those treatment plants that still have capacity. Thanks to this system, the overall amount of storm- and wastewater overflows has been reduced by approximately 20%.

iii. Adaptation measures for diffuse pollution source control

Agriculture is the main source of diffuse pollution affecting environmental waters in Europe. Agriculture is a sector that can make large contributions to adaptation to climate change and water quality. Thus, policy coherence with the EU Common Agricultural Policy's provisions should be ensured with regard to adaptation objectives in water management. Conventional agriculture implies a certain level of leaching or washout of nutrients and pesticides, either to surface waters or to groundwater bodies. Some pollutants, such as phosphorus, adhere to soil particles; in this case they reach surface water bodies not in the water that makes up surface run-off, but on the soil particles transported due to erosion processes. The measures presented below aim to contain the pollutant loads that take these transport paths (EEA, 2009b). From the several national and European research activities there is limited empirical evidence to demonstrate impacts unequivocally, because of difficulties in disentangling the effects of climatic factors from other pressures. On the other hand, there are many indications in freshwaters that are already under stress from human activities which is vulnerable to climate change impacts. In some cases climate change may significantly hinder attempts to restore some water bodies to good status on the long term (EEA, 2009a).

Support for switching to organic farming

Organic farming strongly limits the possibility of agriculture-related diffuse pollution entering groundwater or surface water bodies. In addition to restrictions typically prohibiting the use of artificial pesticides and fertilisers and regulating the use of natural fertilisers, requirements also typically include rules for improved soil structure and functioning, thus reducing the risk of soil erosion and unwanted sediment transport. The main drawback of this measure is the loss of productivity in organic systems; due to this some schemes compensate the farmers economically for their using this production system.

Precision farming

Precision farming is based on the principle of meeting crop requirements as precisely as possible, using high technology (GPS yield mapping, variable rate delivery of seed, pesticides and fertilisers) at a very fine scale (a few square metres), and aiming for application at the best possible moment in time. This results in maximisation of efficiency of all inputs, and reduces the risk of nutrient and pesticides run-off to surface water, leaching to groundwater, etc.

Buffer strips between water bodies and agricultural fields

Vegetated and unfertilized buffer zones alongside watercourses act as a shield against overland flow from agricultural fields and reduce run-off from reaching the watercourse, thus decreasing erosion and the movement of pollutants into watercourses. Research suggests very high potential for controlling nitrogen pollutants (including nitrate), but performance is strongly dependent on characteristics such as buffer zone width, slope of the drained field, soil type and variety, and density of zone vegetation. Additionally, suspended solids and sediments (with adsorbed pollutants such as phosphorus) are filtered and channel erosion is reduced; protection against pesticides and heavy metals is also judged to be very positive. Buffer strips also effect a reduction in pollution by changing land use. Buffer strips are being widely supported as agri-environmental measures in European rural development programmes.

Buffer strips at field margins (e.g. next to roads), between fields and within fields

The principles behind and the effects of this measure are the same as for the previous one, but whereas the previous measure addresses run-off in the immediate vicinity of a particular water body, this measure addresses the problem close to its origin. The strips' location aims to reduce surface run-off, as well as soil transport, coming out of individual fields. The measure shows particularly good results for soil retention. Locating buffer strips within fields makes sense under extreme conditions such as strongly sloping fields located close to watercourses.

Erosion reduction measures

Agricultural measures that reduce erosion and/or aim at soil conservation reduce the input of solid and suspended particles into water bodies, and consequently the input of diffuse agricultural pollutants such as phosphorus. Some of these measures (e.g. winter plant cover) also take up soil nutrients, reducing the nutrient load available for leaching. Many of these measures improve soil structure and increase the water retention capacity of soils. The measures also have the potential of strongly reducing the run-off from agricultural fields.

- **Continuous plant cover (catch crops, intercrops) / winter plant cover:** A cover crop is planted in late summer or fall to provide soil cover during the winter. A cover crop will take up residual nitrate and other nutrients from the soil, and helps stabilise soil thus reducing soil erosion and the mobilisation of associated pollutants.
- **Green stripes between fields:** The establishment of green stripes of some meters width between agricultural fields, either with permanent or with temporary (yearly) cover, strongly reduces the erosion of field soil and reduces surface run-off, thus reducing the input of nutrients and pesticides into surface waters. If local varieties of plants/grass are used, the measure also has positive effects on biodiversity.
- **Mulch sowing:** Maintaining plant rests within the soil and abstaining from the use of ploughs naturally creates a protective layer of mulch while new plants are sowed directly into the soil through the mulch with adequate equipment. This helps maintain organic matter and preserve good soil structure, thus improving infiltration and retention of water and thereby decrease erosion and pollutant concentrations in surface run-off.
- **Preventing soil compaction:** Soil compaction reduces water infiltration into soils, thus favouring surface run-off and erosion; compaction-free soils are also more drought resistant for crops Options for preventing compaction including use of low ground pressure tyres or tracks on vehicles, avoiding wet soils, and adding organic matter to soil.

Various programmes, including some for environmentally friendly agriculture, support these measures. The European Regional Development Programme for instance sets out the amount of support provided to farmers for their implementation of some of the above-mentioned measures.

Fertiliser, manure and slurry management measures

A rational and planned application of fertilisers/manure/slurry, which is well-timed and which takes account of local parameters such as soil type and structure, is a wide-spread tool for reducing nutrient leaching and which can have an enormous impact on water quality. By keeping nutrient levels as close as possible to plant requirements over time, excess nutrient in the soil, which can be flushed out e.g. by precipitation, is reduced to a minimum. These management measures include:

- **Nutrient balances:** Nutrient balance spreadsheets inform farmers on the efficiency of nutrient utilization and help identify the cropping phases in which nutrients are lost. They help to accurately account for fertilizer use and reduce unnecessary nutrient inputs. The reductions have positive effects on both surface and ground waters.
- **Manure application techniques:** A measure of this type involves for instance cutting slots in the soil, injecting the slurry and then closing these slots after application. Injecting slurry as opposed to applying it on topsoil makes it possible to directly reach the active soil layer in order to reduce nutrient leaching. This reduces groundwater and surface water pollution from nitrate leaching and phosphate run off.
- **Integration of fertiliser and manure nutrient supply:** Determining the amount of nutrients supplied to soils during manure application helps farmers judge the amount and ideal timing of additional fertilizers required by the crop. Taking better account of the nutrients contained in manure can reduce the need for fertilizer inputs, which in turn minimises nitrate and phosphorus losses.

Additional options include the adoption of improved precision techniques such as soil analysis, manure analysis, adaptation of fertiliser and pesticide application on demand, matching fertiliser to seasonal conditions, and slow and controlled release fertilisers. Requirements regarding fertiliser and manure management measures are being used widely, ranging from simple restrictions regarding the timing of manure or slurry application to widespread implementation of nutrient balance spreadsheets.

Risk-based fertiliser and manure restrictions

Risk areas include areas with flushes draining to a nearby watercourse, cracked soils over field drains, or fields with a high phosphorus index. By avoiding the spreading of mineral fertilizers or manure at high risk times, the nitrate leaching and loss of phosphorus through surface run off is diminished. High risk times include when there is a high risk of surface flow, rapid movement to field drains from wet soils, or when there is little or no crop uptake. The measure requires adequate collection and storage facilities.

iv. Adaptive measures for biodiversity

This section presents measures related to biodiversity which are not directly associated with the two main water quality problems of the previous sections.

Barrier removal for improved species migration

The predicted increase in water temperature is expected to effect a change on distribution of water species; species are expected to move to cooler waters, which implies a general move northwards as well as a move to higher elevations (i.e. upstream). Numerous initiatives are currently being implemented that remove man-made fish barriers or provide fish passage facilities at man-made barriers as a response to WFD requirements.

Mitigation of water temperature increases by establishing wooded riparian areas

To the present only one measure has received widespread recognition as having potential to influence water temperature increases. Riparian areas with trees provide direct shade for the water body, reducing the influx of solar radiation on it and thus avoiding the corresponding increase in water temperature. In the case of wide riparian wooded areas, these can also increase the relative air humidity, which also contributes to reduce water temperature. This measure is considered particularly relevant for headwaters; its positive influence on water temperature and related biological processes extends to downstream regions. It is typically not considered applicable downstream because rivers are usually too wide to be influenced in their temperature by canopy cover in these regions; however, narrower rivers could benefit from this measure's implementation independently of its in-basin location.

Cash crops

Cash crops are usually sown after the harvest of one crop and before the sowing of the next. They offer forage or green manure (providing fertility for the soil thereby reducing nitrogen applications for the next crop) potential and are usually based on quick growing plants that will establish before winter. Their mitigation benefits include reducing N_2O emissions or leakage, improving N-use efficiency and carbon sequestration in the soil. When it comes to impacts on biodiversity, catch crops reduce nitrate leaching which can cause eutrophication in watercourses. They can also provide cover for many farmland bird and insect species and reduce soil erosion which would have negative effects on local biodiversity.

5.3. Status of adaptation strategies in European countries

A number of national adaptation strategies have been developed by European countries, and several are in the development process. Many of them address impacts on water and draw up a strategy to adapt water management accordingly (Map 5.1).



Map 5.1 - Status of adaptation strategy development in Europe (Swart et al., 2009).

Key messages

- Adaptation aims particularly at reducing unavoidable negative impacts already in the shorter term, reducing vulnerability to present climate variability, and exploiting opportunities provided by climate change.
- WFD offers important tools for adapting to climate change impacts. The integrated approaches to land, water and ecosystem management, combined with the cyclical review of progress, are all consistent with the ideals of adaptive management.
- The European Commission has set out a framework to reduce EU's vulnerability to the impact of climate change (European Commission, 2009).
- A number of national adaptation strategies have been developed by European countries, and several are in the development process.
- Several possible adaptation measures related to water quality are presented in this chapter classified as measures for point pollution source control, diffuse pollution source control and biodiversity.
- There is a need for integration of climate change adaptation into existing policies.
- With late or no action, damages and associated economic cost would rise sharply until 2080.

6. Conclusions and key messages

The most important conclusions and key messages presented in this report is that climate change has already started to show impacts on the surface waters of Europe and on their biodiversity and ecological status, and that these first symptoms will increase over the coming years. These impacts have already clear consequences for water use and for public health. A series of adaptation measures are urgently needed to counteract the negative impacts of climate change on European freshwater ecosystems and on the services they provide to human well-being.

The clearest impacts related to water quality, biodiversity and health are listed below:

- Warmer water, reduced ice cover and longer growing season.
- More stable stratification and less mixing in lakes.
- Browner water in the northern region (more DOC).
- Increased eutrophication with more harmful algal blooms, reduced water transparency and declining oxygen concentrations.
- Increased risk of inputs and bioavailability of hazardous substances, such as Hg and pesticides.
- Reduction of biomass and biodiversity of cold-adapted species like salmonids and coregonids.
- Major loss of biodiversity in the southern regions due to increased droughts and hot weather.
- Increase of invasive exotic species, including pathogenic micro-organisms.
- Deterioration of ecological status in most lake and river types.
- Increased risk of exceeding the WFD good status target.
- Increased health risk due to more toxic algae, more pathogens and sewage overflow.
- Increased socio-economic costs related to water supply and sanitation.

A series of adaptation measures are underway to counteract these negative impacts, such as improved point source control and measures to reduce diffuse pollution esp. agricultural measures, change of industrial processes to reduce effluents, banning phosphorus in detergents, restoration measures in rivers and lakes (barrier removal, shading). The uncertainty is whether they will be sufficient and be implemented soon enough to prevent these negative impacts on the inland waters of Europe.

References

References - Introduction

- EEA 2008. Impacts of Europe's changing climate 2008 indicator-based assessment. Joint EEA-JRC-WHO report. EEA report no. 4, JRC report no. JRC47756
- Euro-Limpacs:, Integrated Project to Evaluate the Impacts of Global Change on European Freshwater Ecosystems (<u>http://www.eurolimpacs.ucl.ac.uk/index.php</u>) accessed February 2009
- IPCC, 2007, Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, M.L. Parry, O.F. Canziani, J.P. Palutikof, P.J. van der Linden and C.E. Hanson, Eds., Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 976pp.
- Kernan, M., Battarbee, R.W. and Moss, B. 2010. Climate change impacts on Freshwater Ecosystems. ISBN: 978-1-4051-7913-3. Wiley-Blackwell: 328 pp.
- REFRESH:, Adaptive Strategies to Mitigate the Impacts of Climate Change on European Freshwater Ecosystems (<u>http://www.refresh.ucl.ac.uk/</u>) accessed January 2010

References - Chapter 1. Impacts on water quality

- Adamson, J.K., W.A. Scott, and A.P. Rowland. 1998. The dynamics of dissolved nitrogen in a blanket peat dominated catchment. Environmental Pollution 99:69-77.
- Ambrosetti W., and Barbanti, L. 1999. Deep water warming in lakes: an indicator of climate change. J. Limnology 58: 1-9
- Andersen, H.E., Kronvang, B., Larsen, S.E., Hoffmann, C.C., Jensen, T.S. and E.K. Rasmussen. 2006. Climatechange impacts on hydrology and nutrients in a Danish lowland river basin. Science of The Total Environment 365 (1-3): 223-237.
- Anneville, O.; Gammeter, S. and Straile, D., 2005. Phosphorus decrease and climate variability: mediators of synchrony in phytoplankton changes among European peri-alpine lakes. Freshwater Biology 50: 1731–1746.
- Ashbolt, N., Roser, D., Leeming, R.,, Stevens, M., Laver, P., Magyar, C., Wade, A., Grooby, W. and Steffensen, D. 2002. Dry weather quality of protected versus developed surface water catchments – pathogen data and management. IWA 3rd World Water Congress, International Water Association, Melbourne, Australia.
- Atherholt, T.B., M.W. LeChevallier, W.D. Norton, and J.S. Rosen. 1998. Effect of rainfall on Giardia and crypto. Journal American Water Works Association 90:66-80.
- Barth, J.A.C., P. Grathwohl, H.J. Fowler, A. Bellin, M.H. Gerzabek, G.J. Lair, D. Barcelo, M. Petrovic, A. Navarro, P. Negrel, E. Petelet-Giraud, D. Darmendrail, H. Rijnaarts, A. Langenhoff, J. de Weert, A. Slob, B.M. van der Zaan, J. Gerritse, E. Frank, A. Gutierrez, R. Kretzschmar, T. Gocht, D. Steidle, F. Garrido, K.C. Jones, S. Meijer, C. Moeckel, A. Marsman, G. Klaver, T. Vogel, C. Burger, O. Kolditz, H.P. Broers, N. Baran, J. Joziasse, W. Von Tumpling, P. Van Gaans, C. Merly, A. Chapman, S. Brouyere, J.B. Aguilar, P. Orban, N. Tas, and H. Smidt. 2009. Mobility, turnover and storage of pollutants in soils, sediments and waters: achievements and results of the EU project AquaTerra. A review. Agronomy For Sustainable Development 29:161-173.
- Battarbee, R.W., M. Kernan, D.M. Livingstone, U. Nickus, P. Verdonschot, D. Hering, B. Moss, R.F. Wright, C.D. Evans, J.O. Grimalt, R.K. Johnson, E. Maltby, C. Linstead, and R.A. Skeffington. 2008.
 Freshwater ecosystem responses to climate change: the Euro-limpacs project, p. 313-354, In P. Quevauviller, et al., eds. The Water Framework Directive Ecological and Chemical Status Monitoring. John Wiley & Sons Ltd, Chichester, UK.
- Beltaos, S., and T. Prowse. 2009. River-ice hydrology in a shrinking cryosphere. Hydrological Processes 23:122-144.
- Blenckner, T., Omstedt A. and Rummukainen, M. (2002). A Swedish case study of contemporary and possible future consequences of climate change on lake function, Aquatic Science 64, 171–184.

- Bloomfield, J.P., R.J. Williams, D.C. Gooddy, J.N. Cape, and P. Guha. 2006. Impacts of climate change on the fate and behaviour of pesticides in surface and groundwater - a UK perspective. Science of the Total Environment 369:163-177.
- Borken, W., and E. Matzner. 2009. Reappraisal of drying and wetting effects on C and N mineralization and fluxes in soils. Global Change Biology 15:808-824.
- Borshch, S.V., Ginzburg, B.M., Soldatova, I.I., 2001. Modeling the development of ice phenomena in rivers as applied to the assessment of probable changes in ice conditions at various scenarios of the future climate.Water Resources vol. 28 (No. 2), 194–200 Translated from Vodnye Resursy, vol. 28, No. 2, 2001, 217–223
- BUWAL, BWG, MeteoSchweiz, 2004. Auswirkungen des Hitzesommers 2003 auf die Gewässer. Schriftenreihe Umwelt Nr. 369. Bern-Ittigen: Bundesamt für Umwelt, Waldund Landschaft, 174 p.
- Byrne, J., S. Kienzle, D. Johnson, G. Duke, V. Gannon, B. Selinger, and J. Thomas. 2006. Current and future water issues in the Oldman River Basin of Alberta, Canada. Water Science And Technology 53:327-334.
- Christ, M.J., and M.B. David. 1996. Temperature and moisture effects on the production of dissolved organic carbon in a Spodosol. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 28:1191-1199.
- Coulthard, T.J., and M.G. Macklin. 2003. Modeling long-term contamination in river systems from historical metal mining. Geology 31:451-454.
- Cox, B.A., and P.G. Whitehead. 2009. Impacts of climate change scenarios on dissolved oxygen in the River Thames, UK. Hydrology Research 40:138-152.
- Curriero, F.C., J.A. Patz, J.B. Rose, and S. Lele. 2001. The association between extreme precipitation and waterborne disease outbreaks in the United States, 1948-1994. American Journal Of Public Health 91:1194-1199.
- Dabrowski, M.;Marszelewski, W., and Skowron, R. 2004. The trends and dependencies between air and water temperatures in lakes in northern Poland from 1961-2000. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences 8:79-87.
- Dalla Valle, M., Codato, E. and Marcomini, A. (2007): Climate change influence on POPs distribution and fate: A case study. Chemosphere, vol. 67, pp 1287-1295.
- Davies, J.J.L., A. Jenkins, D.T. Monteith, C.D. Evans, and D.M. Cooper. 2005. Trends in surface water chemistry of acidified UK Freshwaters, 1988-2002. Environmental Pollution 137:27-39.
- de Wit, H.A., J. Mulder, A. Hindar, and L. Hole. 2007. Long-term increase in dissolved organic carbon in streamwaters in Norway is response to reduced acid deposition. Environmental Science & Technology 41:7706-7713.
- DeStasio, B. T.;Hill, D. K.;Kleinhans, J. M.;Nibbelink, N. P., and Magnuson, J. J. 1996. Potential effects of global climate change on small north-temperate lakes: Physics, fish, and plankton. Limnol. Oceanogr. 41:1136-1149.
- Dokulil, M. T.; Jagsch, A.; George, G. D.; Anneville, O.; Jankowski, T.; Wahl, B.; Lenhart, B.; Blenckner, T. and Teubner, K., 2006. Twenty years of spatially coherent deepwater warming in lakes across Europe related to the North Atlantic Oscillation. Limnol. Oceanogr. 51: 2787–2793.
- Ducharne, A. 2008. Importance of stream temperature to climate change impact on water quality. Hydrology And Earth System Sciences 12:797-810.
- EEA 2008. Impacts of Europe's changing climate 2008 indicator-based assessment. Joint EEA-JRC-WHO report. EEA report no. 4, JRC report no. JRC47756: 247 p.
- Epp, R.G., D.J. Erickson, N.D. Paul, and B. Sulzberger. 2007. Interactive effects of solar UV radiation and climate change on biogeochemical cycling. Photochemical & Photobiological Sciences 6:286-300.
- Erlandsson, M., I. Buffam, J. Folster, H. Laudon, J. Temnerud, G.A. Weyhenmeyer, and K. Bishop. 2008. Thirty-five years of synchrony in the organic matter concentrations of Swedish rivers explained by variation in flow and sulphate. Global Change Biology 14:1191-1198.
- Evans, C.D., D.T. Monteith, and D.M. Cooper. 2005. Long-term increases in surface water dissolved organic carbon: Observations, possible causes and environmental impacts. Environmental Pollution 137:55-71.
- Evans, C.D., P.J. Chapman, J.M. Clark, D.T. Monteith, and M.S. Cresser. 2006. Alternative explanations for rising dissolved organic carbon export from organic soils. Global Change Biology 12:2044-2053.
- Ferguson, C., A.M.D. Husman, N. Altavilla, D. Deere, and N. Ashbolt. 2003. Fate and transport of surface water pathogens in watersheds. Critical Reviews In Environmental Science And Technology 33:299-361.

- Feuchtmayr, H., R. Moran, K. Hatton, L. Connor, T. Heyes, B. Moss, I. Harvey, and D. Atkinson. 2009. Global warming and eutrophication: effects on water chemistry and autotrophic communities in experimental hypertrophic shallow lake mesocosms. Journal Of Applied Ecology 46:713-723.
- Fitzhugh, R.D., C.T. Driscoll, P.M. Groffman, G.L. Tierney, T.J. Fahey, and J.P. Hardy. 2001. Effects of soil freezing disturbance on soil solution nitrogen, phosphorus, and carbon chemistry in a northern hardwood ecosystem. Biogeochemistry 56:215-238.
- Franssen, H.J.H., and S.C. Scherrer. 2008. Freezing of lakes on the Swiss plateau in the period 1901-2006. International J. Climatol. 28:421-433
- Fraser A.I., Harrod T.R., Haygarth P.M. 1999. The effect of rainfall intensity on soil erosion and particulate phosphorus transfer from arable soils. Water Science and Technology, 39 (12), pp. 41-45.
- Freeman, C., C.D. Evans, D.T. Monteith, B. Reynolds, and N. Fenner. 2001a. Export of organic carbon from peat soils. Nature 412:785.
- Freeman, C., N. Fenner, N.J. Ostle, H. Kang, D.J. Dowrick, B. Reynolds, M.A. Lock, D. Sleep, S. Hughes, and J. Hudson. 2004. Export of dissolved organic carbon from peatlands under elevated carbon dioxide levels. Nature 430:195-198.
- Freeman, C., N. Ostle, and H. Kang. 2001b. An enzymic 'latch' on a global carbon store A shortage of oxygen locks up carbon in peatlands by restraining a single enzyme. Nature 409:149.
- Futter, M.N., D. Butterfield, B.J. Cosby, P.J. Dillon, A.J. Wade, and P.G. Whitehead. 2007. Modeling the mechanisms that control in-stream dissolved organic carbon dynamics in upland and forested catchments. Water Resources Research 43.
- Futter, M.N., R.C. Helliwell, M. Hutchins, and J. Aherne. 2009. Modelling the effects of changing climate and nitrogen deposition on nitrate dynamics in a Scottish mountain catchment. Hydrology Research 40:153-166.
- George, G., M. Hurley, and D. Hewitt. 2007. The impact of climate change on the physical characteristics of the larger lakes in the English Lake District. Freshwater Biology 52:1647-1666.
- Gerten, D. and Adrian, R. 2001. Differences in the persistency of the North Atlantic Oscillation signal among lakes. Limnol. Oceanogr. 46: 448–455.
- Giovanni, George D. Di, 2004. Drought may concentrate pathogens in surface water. Southwest Hydrology, November/December 2004, 24-26.
- Gomi, T.; Moore, R. D., and Dhakal, A. S. 2006. Headwater stream temperature response to clear-cut harvesting with different riparian treatments, coastal British Columbia, Canada. Water Resources Research 42.
- Grimalt, J. O.; Fernández, P.; Berdié, L.; Vilanova, R.M.; Catalan, J.; Psenner, R.; Hofer, R.; Appleby, P. G., Rosseland, B. O.; Lien L.; Massabuau J. C. and Battarbee, R. W., 2001. Selective trapping of organochlorine compounds in mountain lakes of temperate areas. Env. Sci. Technol. 35: 2690–2697.
- Hampton, S.E., L.R. Izmest'eva, M.V. Moore, S.L. Katz, B. Dennis, and E.A. Silow. 2008. Sixty years of environmental change in the world's largest freshwater lake - Lake Baikal, Siberia. Global Change Biology 14:1947-1958.
- Hansen, J. W., Nedergaard, M., Skov, F. 2008. IGLOO Indikatorer for globale klimaforandringer i overvågningen, Bilagsrapport. By- og Landskabsstyrelsen, Miljøministeriet, Denmark
- Hari, R. E.; Livingstone, D. M.; Siber, R.; Burkhardt-Holm, P. and Guttinger, H., 2006. Consequences of climatic change for water temperature and brown trout populations in Alpine rivers and streams. Global Change Biology 12: 10–26.
- Hassan, H., T. Aramaki, K. Hanaki, T. Matsuo, and R. Wilby. 1998. Lake stratification and temperature profiles simulated using downscaled GCM output. Water Sci. Technol. 38:217-226.
- Hondzo, M., and Stefan, H. G. 1993. Lake Water Temperature Simulation-Model. Journal of Hydraulic Engineering-Asce 119:1251-1273.
- Hongve, D., Riise, G. and Kristiansen, J.F., 2004. Increased colour and organic acid concentrations in Norwegian forest lakes and drinking water – A results of increased precipitation? Aquatic Sci. 66: 231-238.
- Inamdar, S.P., N. O'Leary, M.J. Mitchell, and J.T. Riley. 2006. The impact of storm events on solute exports from a glaciated forested watershed in western New York, USA. Hydrological Processes 20:3423-3439.
- Jankowski, T.;Livingstone, D. M.;Buhrer, H.;Forster, R., and Niederhauser, P. 2006. Consequences of the 2003 European heat wave for lake temperature profiles, thermal stability, and hypolimnetic oxygen depletion: Implications for a warmer world. Limnology and Oceanography 51:815-819.

- Jeppesen, E., Kronvang, B., Meerhoff, M., Søndergaard, M., Hansen, K.M., Andersen, H.E., Lauridsen, T.L., Liboriussen, L., Beklioglu, M., Özen, A., Olesen, J.E. 2009. Climate change effects on runoff, catchment phosphorus loading and lake ecological state, and potential adaptations. J. Environm. Qual. 38: 1930-1941.
- Karetnikov, S.G., and M.A. Naumenko. 2008. Recent trends in Lake Ladoga ice cover. Hydrobiologia 599:41-48.
- Kerr, R. A., 1999. The Little Ice Age only the latest big chill. Science 248: 2069. DOI: 10.1126/ science.284.5423.2069.
- Kistemann, T., T. Claßen, C. Koch, F. Dangendorf, R. Fischeder, J. Gebel, V. Vacata, and M. Exner. 2002. Microbial Load of Drinking Water Reservoir Tributaries during Extreme Rainfall and Runoff. Applied and environmental microbiology, Vol. 68, No. 5, p. 2188–2197.
- Korhonen J., 2006. Long-term changes in lake ice cover in Finland. Nordic Hydrology 37: 347–363.
- Langan, S. J.; Johnston, L.; Donaghy, M. J.; Youngson, A. F.; Hay, D. W., and Soulsby, C. 2001. Variation in river water temperatures in an upland stream over a 30-year period. Science of The Total Environment 265:195-207.
- Leppäranta, M., A. Reinart, A. Erm, H. Arst, M. Hussainov, and L. Sipelgas. 2003. Investigation of ice and water properties and under-ice light fields in fresh and brackish water bodies. Nordic Hydrology 34:245-266.
- Liu, B. Z.; Yang, D. Q.; Ye, B. S., and Berezovskaya, S. 2005. Long-term open-water season stream temperature variations and changes over Lena River Basin in Siberia. Global and Planetary Change 48:96-111.
- Livingstone, D. M. 2003. Impact of secular climate change on the thermal structure of a large temperate central European lake. Climatic Change 57:205-225.
- Livingstone, D. M., 1997. Break-up dates of Alpine lakes as proxy data for local and regional mean surface air temperatures. Climatic Change 37: 407–439.
- Livingstone, D.M. 1993. Lake Oxygenation Application Of A One-Box Model With Ice Cover. Internationale Revue Der Gesamten Hydrobiologie 78:465-480.
- Löfgren, S., Forsius, M. and Andersen, T. 2003. Climate induced water color increase in Nordic lakes and streams due to humus. Nordic Council of Ministers, Bruchure, Copenhagen, Denmark: 12 pp.
- Lundquist, E.J., L.E. Jackson, and K.M. Scow. 1999. Wet-dry cycles affect dissolved organic carbon in two California agricultural soils. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 31:1031-1038.
- Magnuson, J. J.; Robertson, D. M.; Benson, B. J.; Wynne, R. H.; Livingstone, D. M.; Arai, T.; Assel, R. A.; Barry, R. G.; Card, V.; Kuusisto, E.; Granin, N. G.; Prowse, T. D.; Stewart K. M. and Vuglinski, V. S., 2000a. Historical trends in lake and river ice cover in the Northern Hemisphere. Science 289: 1743– 1746.
- Marsden, M.W. 1989. Lake restoration by reducing external phosphorus loading: the influence of sediment phosphorus release. Freshwater Biology 21:139-162.
- Marshall, E., and T. Randhir. 2008. Effect of climate change on watershed system: a regional analysis. Climatic Change 89:263-280.
- Matzner, E., and W. Borken. 2008. Do freeze-thaw events enhance C and N losses from soils of different ecosystems? A review. European Journal of Soil Science 59:274-284.
- Meehl GA, Stocker TF, Collins WD, Friedlingstein P, Gaye AT, Gregory JM, Kitoh A, Knutti R, Murphy JM, Noda A, Raper SCB, Watterson IG, Weaver AJ, Zhao Z-C. 2007. Global climate projections. In Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis, Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Solomon S, Qin D, Manning M, Chen Z, Marquis M, Averyt KB, Tignor M, Miller Hel (eds). Cambridge University Press: Cambridge; 747–845.
- Michalzik, B., and E. Matzner. 1999. Dynamics of dissolved organic nitrogen and carbon in a Central European Norway spruce ecosystem. European Journal of Soil Science 50:579-590.
- MNP, 2006. The effects of climate change in the Netherlands. (Bresser et al. (eds) Report from MNP available at http://www.mnp.nl/en/publications/2006/TheeffectsofclimatechangeintheNetherlands.html.
- Moatar, F., and Gailhard, J. 2006. Water temperature behaviour in the River Loire since 1976 and 1881. Comptes Rendus Geoscience 338:319-328.
- Monteith, D.T., C.D. Evans, and B. Reynolds. 2000. Are temporal variations in the nitrate content of UK upland freshwaters linked to the North Atlantic Oscillation? Hydrological Processes 14:1745-1749.

- Monteith, D.T., J.L. Stoddard, C.D. Evans, H.A. de Wit, M. Forsius, T. Høgåsen, A. Wilander, B.L. Skjelkvåle, D.S. Jeffries, J. Vuorenmaa, B. Keller, J. Kopácek, and J. Vesely. 2007. Dissolved organic carbon trends resulting from changes in atmospheric deposition chemistry. Nature 450:537-541.
- Mooij, W.M., L. Domis, and S. Hulsmann. 2008. The impact of climate wanning on water temperature, timing of hatching and young-of-the-year growth of fish in shallow lakes in the Netherlands. J. Sea Research 60:32-43.
- Mooij, W.M., S. Hulsmann, L.N.D. Domis, B.A. Nolet, P.L.E. Bodelier, P.C.M. Boers, L.M.D. Pires, H.J. Gons, B.W. Ibelings, R. Noordhuis, R. Portielje, K. Wolfstein, and E. Lammens. 2005. The impact of climate change on lakes in the Netherlands: a review. Aquatic Ecology 39:381-400.
- Moore, K., 2007. Climate change impacts on the catchment contribution to lake water quantity and quality. PhD thesis Uppsala University, Sweden (http://publications.uu.se/theses/abstract.xsql?dbid=8236)
- Moore, M.V., S.E. Hampton, L.R. Izmest'eva, E.A. Silow, E.V. Peshkova, and B.K. Pavlov. 2009. Climate Change and the World's "Sacred Sea"-Lake Baikal, Siberia. Bioscience 59:405-417.
- Moss, B., D. McKee, D. Atkinson, S.E. Collings, J.W. Eaton, A.B. Gill, I. Harvey, K. Hatton, T. Heyes, and D. Wilson. 2003. How important is climate? Effects of warming, nutrient addition and fish on phytoplankton in shallow lake microcosms. Journal Of Applied Ecology 40:782-792.
- Moss, B., D. Stephen, D.M. Balayla, E. Becares, S.E. Collings, C. Fernandez-Alaez, M. Fernandez-Alaez, C. Ferriol, P. Garcia, J. Goma, M. Gyllstrom, L.A. Hansson, J. Hietala, T. Kairesalo, M.R. Miracle, S. Romo, J. Rueda, V. Russell, A. Stahl-Delbanco, M. Svensson, K. Vakkilainen, M. Valentin, W.J. Van de Bund, E. Van Donk, E. Vicente, and M.J. Villena. 2004. Continental-scale patterns of nutrient and fish effects on shallow lakes: synthesis of a pan-European mesocosm experiment. Freshwater Biology 49:1633-1649.
- Naumenko, M.A. 2008. Seasonality and trends in the Secchi disk transparency of Lake Ladoga. Hydrobiologia 599:59-65.
- Nicholls, K. H. (1998) El Nino, ice cover, and Great Lakes phosphorus, implications for climate warming, Limnology and Oceanography 43, 715–719.
- Nie, L., O. Lindholm, G. Lindholm, E. Syversen, 2009. Impacts of climate change on urban drainage systems a case study on Frederikstad, Norway. Urban Water Journal, Vol. 6, Issue 4, p. 323-332.
- Oliver, D.M., C.D. Clegg, P.M. Haygarth, and A.L. Heathwaite. 2005. Assessing the potential for pathogen transfer from grassland soils to surface waters, p. 125-180 Advances In Agronomy, Vol 85, Vol. 85. Elsevier Academic Press Inc, San Diego.
- Palecki, M. A. and Barry, R. G., 1986. Freeze-up and break-up of lakes as an index of temperature changes
- Peeters, F.;Livingstone, D. M.;Goudsmit, G. H.;Kipfer, R., and Forster, R. 2002. Modeling 50 years of historical temperature profiles in a large central European lake. Limnol. Oceanogr. 47:186-197.
- Pernaravičiūtė, B., 2004. The impact of climate change on thermal regime of Lithuanian lakes. Ekologija 2: 58–63.
- Roulet, N. & T.R. Moore, 2006. Environmental chemistry:Browning the waters. Nature 444, 283 284.
- Schimel, J., T.C. Balser, and M. Wallenstein. 2007. Microbial stress-response physiology and its implications for ecosystem function. Ecology 88:1386-1394.
- Shimaraev, M.N., L.N. Kuimova, V.N. Sinyukovich, and V.V. Tsekhanovskii. 2002. Manifestation of global climatic changes in Lake Baikal during the 20th century. Doklady Earth Sciences 383:288-291
- Sjøeng, A.M.S., Ø. Kaste, and R.F. Wright. 2009. Modelling future NO3 leaching from an upland headwater catchment in SW Norway using the MAGIC model: II. Simulation of future nitrate leaching given scenarios of climate change and nitrogen deposition. Hydrology Research 40:217-233.
- Skjelkvåle, B.L., Mannio, J., Wilander, A., Andersen, T. 2001. Recovery from acidification of lakes in Finland, Norway and Sweden 1990-1999. Hydrol. Earth System Sci. 5: 327-337.
- Snucins, E., and Gunn, J. 2000. Interannual variation in the thermal structure of clear and colored lakes. Limnol. Oceanogr. 45:1639-1646.
- Soulsby, C., P. Rodgers, R. Smart, J. Dawson, and S. Dunn. 2003. A tracer-based assessment of hydrological pathways at different spatial scales in a mesoscale Scottish catchment. Hydrological Processes 17:759-777.
- Stefan, H. G.; Fang, X., and Hondzo, M. 1998. Simulated climate change effects on year-round water temperatures in temperate zone lakes. Climatic Change 40:547-576.
- Straile, D., Jöhnk, K., Rossknecht, H. 2003. Complex effects of winter warming on the physico-chemical characteristics of a deep lake. Limnology and Oceanography, Vol. 48, pp. 1432-1438

- Svensson C.; Hannaford J.; Kundzewicz, Z. W. and Marsh, T., 2006: Trends in river floods: why is there no clear signal in observations? Frontiers in Flood Research IAHS Proceedings & Reports.
- Takahashi, K., Y. Matsuoka, Y. Shimada and H. Harasawa, 2001: Assessment of water resource problems under climate change: considering inter-annual variability of climate derived from GCM calculations. J. Global Environ. Eng., 7, 17-30.
- Tanentzap, A.J., N.D. Yan, B. Keller, R. Girard, J. Heneberry, J.M. Gunn, D.P. Hamilton, and P.A. Taylor. 2008. Cooling lakes while the world warms: Effects of forest regrowth and increased dissolved organic matter on the thermal regime of a temperate, urban lake. Limnol. Oceanogr. 53:404-410.
- Tierney, G.L., T.J. Fahey, P.M. Groffman, J.P. Hardy, R.D. Fitzhugh, and C.T. Driscoll. 2001. Soil freezing alters fine root dynamics in a northern hardwood forest. Biogeochemistry 56:175-190.
- Todd, M.C., and A.W. Mackay. 2003. Large-scale climatic controls on Lake Baikal ice cover. Journal Of Climate 16:3186-3199
- Tranvik, L.J., and M. Jansson. 2002. Climate change Terrestrial export of organic carbon. Nature 415:861-862.
- Versteeg R., Klopstra D., Kroon T. 2005: Watertekortopgave eindrapport. A report from Droogtestudie Nederland Avaible in pdf at http://www.droogtestudie.nl/documenten/Watertekortopgavedef1.pdf
- Vuorenmaa, J., Forsius, M. and Mannio, J. (2006) Increasing trends of total organic carbon concentrations in small forest lakes in Finland from 1987 to 2003, Science of the Total Environment 365, 47-65.
- Webb, B. W., and Nobilis, F. 2007. Long-term changes in river temperature and the influence of climatic and hydrological factors. Hydrological Sciences Journal-Journal Des Sciences Hydrologiques 52:74-85.
- Webb, B. W.; Clack, P. D., and Walling, D. E. 2003. Water-air temperature relationships in a Devon river system and the role of flow. Hydrological Processes 17:3069-3084.
- Weyhenmeyer, G. A., 2007. Water chemical changes along a latitudinal gradient in relation to climate and atmospheric deposition. Climate change 88 (2): 199–208.
- Weyhenmeyer, G. A.; Meili, M. and Livingstone, D. M., 2004. Nonlinear temperature response of lake ice breakup. Geophysical Research Letters 31 (7): L07203, DOI:10.1029/2004GL019530.
- Weyhenmeyer, G.A. 2008. Water chemical changes along a latitudinal gradient in relation to climate and atmospheric deposition. Climatic Change 88:199-208.
- Whitehead, P.G., A.J. Wade, and D. Butterfield. 2009b. Potential impacts of climate change on water quality and ecology in six UK rivers. Hydrology Research 40:113-122.
- Whitehead, P.G., R.L. Wilby, R.W. Battarbee, M. Kernan, and A.J. Wade. 2009a. A review of the potential impacts of climate change on surface water quality. Hydrological Sciences Journal-Journal Des Sciences Hydrologiques 54:101-123.
- Wilhelm, S., and R. Adrian. 2008. Impact of summer warming on the thermal characteristics of a polymictic lake and consequences for oxygen, nutrients and phytoplankton. Freshw. Biol. 53:226-237.
- Worrall, F., Burt, T. and Adamson, J. (2005) Fluxes of dissolved carbon dioxide and inorganic carbon from an upland peat catchment: implications for soil respiration, Biogeochemistry 73, 515-539.
- Worrall, F., T.P. Burt, and J. Adamson. 2008. Long-term records of dissolved organic carbon flux from peatcovered catchments: evidence for a drought effect? Hydrological Processes 22:3181-3193.
- Worrall, F., T.P. Burt, R.Y. Jaeban, J. Warburton, and R. Shedden. 2002. Release of dissolved organic carbon from upland peat. Hydrological Processes 16:3487-3504.
- Wrona, F.J., T.D. Prowse, J.D. Reist, J.E. Hobbie, L.M.J. Levesque, and W.F. Vincent. 2006. Climate change effects on aquatic biota, ecosystem structure and function. Ambio 35:359-369.

References - Chapter 2. Impacts on biodiversity

Adrian, Wilhelm & Gerten, subm.(pdf); Aquashift - http://www.ifm-geomar.de/index.php?id=1997#

- Altermatt, F., Pajunen, V.I. & Ebert, D. (2008) Climate change affects colonization dynamics in a metacommunity of three Daphnia species. Global Change Biology, 14, 1209-1220.
- Ambrosetti W., and Barbanti, L. 1999. Deep water warming in lakes: an indicator of climate change. Journal of Limnology 58: 1-9.
- Anneville, O., Ginot, V. and Angeli, N. 2002. Restoration of Lake Geneva: Expected versus observed responses of phytoplankton to decreases in phosphorus. Lakes & Reservoirs: Research and Management, 7, 67–80.

- Anneville, O.;Gammeter, S., and Straile, D. 2005. Phosphorus decrease and climate variability: mediators of synchrony in phytoplankton changes among European peri-alpine lakes. Freshwater Biology 50:1731-1746.
- Barica, J., Mathias, J. A. 1979. Oxygen depletion and winterkill risk in small prairie lakes under extended ice cover, J. Fish. Res. Board Can., 36, 980–986.
- Barlocher, F., Seena, S., Wilson, K.P. & Williams, D.D. (2008) Raised water temperature lowers diversity of hyporheic aquatic hyphomycetes. Freshwater Biology, 53, 368-379.
- Battarbee, R.W., M. Kernan, D.M. Livingstone, U. Nickus, P. Verdonschot, D. Hering, B. Moss, R.F. Wright, C.D. Evans, J.O. Grimalt, R.K. Johnson, E. Maltby, C. Linstead, and R.A. Skeffington. 2008.
 Freshwater ecosystem responses to climate change: the Euro-limpacs project, p. 313-354, In P. Quevauviller, et al., eds. The Water Framework Directive Ecological and Chemical Status Monitoring. John Wiley & Sons Ltd, Chichester, UK.
- Bauernfeind, E. and U.H. Humpesch 2001. Die Eintagsfliegen Zentraleuropas (Insecta: Ephemeroptera) Bestimmung und Ökologie. Verlag des Naturhistorischen Museums, Wien Austria.
- Benson, B., and J. Magnuson. 2000, updated 2006. Global lake and river ice phenology database. Boulder, CO: National Snow and Ice Data Center/World Data Center for Glaciology. Digital media.
- Biodiversity Indicators, 2006. Climate Change: Trend of Southern European dragonfly species . Research Institute for Nature and Forest, Brussels. www.natuurindicatoren.be (updated 08-05-2006).
- Bramm, M.E., Lassen, M.K., Liboriussen, L., Richardson, K., Ventura, M. & Jeppesen, E. (2009) The role of light for fish-zooplankton-phytoplankton interactions during winter in shallow lakes a climate change perspective. Freshwater Biology, 54, 1093-1109.
- Brown, L.E., Hannah, D.M. & Milner, A.M. (2007) Vulnerability of alpine stream biodiversity to shrinking glaciers and snowpacks. Global Change Biology, 13, 958-966.
- Buisson, L., Thuiller, W., Lek, S., Lim, P. & Grenouillet, G. (2008) Climate change hastens the turnover of stream fish assemblages. Global Change Biology, 14, 2232-2248.
- Burgmer T., Hillebrand H. & Pfenninger M. 2007: Effects of climate-driven temperature changes on the diversity of freshwater macroinvertebrates. Oecologia 151: 93–103
- BUWAL, BWG, MeteoSchweiz. 2004. Auswirkungen des Hitzesommers 2003 auf die Gewässer. Schriftenreihe Umwelt Nr. 369. Bern-Ittigen: Bundesamt für Umwelt, Wald und Landschaft, 174 p.
- CH-CyanoClim http://www.unige.ch/climate/Projects/CyanoClim.html
- Christoffersen, K.S., Amsinck, S.L., Landkildehus, F., Lauridsen, T.L. & Jeppesen, E. (2008) Lake flora and fauna in relation to ice-melt, water temperature and chemistry at Zackenberg. In: Advances in Ecological Research, Vol 40. (Ed^Eds, pp. 371-389. Advances in Ecological Research. Elsevier Academic Press Inc, San Diego.
- Clements, W.H., Brooks, M.L., Kashian, D.R. & Zuellig, R.E. (2008) Changes in dissolved organic material determine exposure of stream benthic communities to UV-B radiation and heavy metals: implications for climate change. Global Change Biology, 14, 2201-2214.
- Dabrowski, M.;Marszelewski, W., and Skowron, R. 2004. The trends and dependencies between air and water temperatures in lakes in northern Poland from 1961-2000. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences 8:79-87.
- Daufresne, M.;Bady, P., and Fruget, J. F. 2007. Impacts of global changes and extreme hydroclimatic events on macroinvertebrate community structures in the French Rhone River. Oecologia 151:544-559.
- Dingemanse, N.J. & Kalkman, V.J. (2008) Changing temperature regimes have advanced the phenology of Odonata in the Netherlands. Ecological Entomology, 33, 394-402.
- Dokulil, M. T.;Jagsch, A.;George, G. D.;Anneville, O.;Jankowski, T.;Wahl, B.;Lenhart, B.;Blenckner, T., and Teubner, K. 2006. Twenty years of spatially coherent deepwater warming in lakes across Europe related to the North Atlantic Oscillation. Limnology and Oceanography 51:2787-2793.
- Dupuis, A.P. & Hann, B.J. (2009) Warm spring and summer water temperatures in small eutrophic lakes of the Canadian prairies: potential implications for phytoplankton and zooplankton. Journal of Plankton Research, 31, 489-502.
- Durance, I. & Ormerod, S.J. (2009) Trends in water quality and discharge confound long-term warming effects on river macroinvertebrates. Freshwater Biology, 54, 388-405.
- Dyble J., Paerl H.W. and Neilan B.A. 2002. Genetic characterization of Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii (Cyanobacteria) isolates from diverse geographic origins based on nifH andcpcBA-IGS nucleotide sequence analysis. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 68: 2567–2571.

- Ficetola, G.F., Thuiller, W. & Padoa-Schioppa, E. (2009) From introduction to the establishment of alien species: bioclimatic differences between presence and reproduction localities in the slider turtle. Diversity and Distributions, 15, 108-116.
- George G., Hewitt D, Jennings E., Allott N. and McGinnity P. 2005: The impact of changes in the weather on the surface temperatures of Windermere (UK) and Lough Feeagh (Ireland) In Proceedings of the Fourth Inter-Celtic Colloquium on Hydrology and Management of Water Resources, Guimaraes, Portugal, Lobo Ferreira JP, Vieira JMP (eds). Associa c^ao Portuguesa dos Recursos H`idricos (APRH), Lisbon, http://www.aprh.pt/celtico/TEXT/papers.html
- George G., Hurley M. and Hewitt D. 2007: The impact of climate change on the physical characteristics of the larger lakes in the English Lake District. Freshwater Biology 52, 1647–1666.
- George, D.G., Hurley, M.A. 2004. The influence of sampling frequency on the detection of long-term change in three lakes in the English Lake District. Aquat. Ecosyst. Health and Management 7, 1-14.
- Greenbank, J. 1945. Limnological conditions in ice-covered lakes, especially related to winterkill of fish, Ecol. Monogr., 15, 343–392.
- Hari, R. E.;Livingstone, D. M.;Siber, R.;Burkhardt-Holm, P., and Guttinger, H. 2006. Consequences of climatic change for water temperature and brown trout populations in Alpine rivers and streams. Global Change Biology 12:10-26.
- Hassall C., Thompson D. J., French G. C., &. Harvey I. F 2007: Historical changes in the phenology of British Odonata are related to climate Global Change Biology
- Hering, D., Schmidt-Kloiber, A., Murphy, J., Lucke, S., Zamora-Munoz, C., Lopez-Rodriguez, M.J., Huber, T. & Graf, W. 2009. Potential impact of climate change on aquatic insects: A sensitivity analysis for European caddisflies (Trichoptera) based on distribution patterns and ecological preferences. Aquatic Sciences, 71, 3-14.
- Hickling R., Roy D. B., Hill J. K., & Thomas C. D.2005: A northward shift of range margins in British Odonata . Global Change Biology 11 (3), 502–506
- Hohensinner, S., FWF-Project Machland 1715-1991, Grant-No. P14959-B06
- Hudnell, H.K., Dortch, Q. & Zenick, H. (2008) Chapter 1: An overview of the interagency, international symposium on cyanobacterial harmful algal blooms (ISOC-HAB): Advancing the scientific understanding of freshwater harmful algal blooms. H.K. Hudnell), pp. 1-16. Springer-Verlag Berlin.
- IPCC, 2007, Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, M.L. Parry, O.F. Canziani, J.P. Palutikof, P.J. van der Linden and C.E. Hanson, Eds., Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 976pp
- Jackson L. J., Lauridsen T. L., Søndergaard M. and Jeppesen E. 2007: A comparison of shallow Danish and Canadian lakes and implications of climate change . Freshwater Biology 52, 1782-1792,
- Jensen, L.F., Hansen, M.M., Pertoldi, C., Holdensgaard, G., Mensberg, K.L.D. & Loeschcke, V. (2008) Local adaptation in brown trout early life-history traits: implications for climate change adaptability. Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences, 275, 2859-2868.
- Järvinen, M., M. Rask, J. Ruuhija[°]rvi, and L. Arvola (2002), Temporal coherence in water temperature and chemistry under the ice of boreal lakes (Finland), Water Res., 36, 3949–3956.
- Jöhnk, K.D., Huisman, J., Sharples, J., Sommeijer, B., Visser, P.M. & Stroom, J.M. Summer heatwaves promote blooms of harmful cyanobacteria. Global Change Biology (in press)
- Kerr, R. A. 1999. The Little Ice Age only the latest big chill. Science 248, 2069. DOI: 10.1126/science.284.5423.2069.
- Korhonen, J. 2002. Water temperature conditions of lakes and rivers in Finland in the 20th century (in Finnish). Suomen Ymparistö 566:1-115.
- Korhonen, J. 2005. Suomen vesistöjen jääolot. Suomen Ympäristö 751, Suomen Ympäristökeskus, Helsinki.
- Korhonen J. 2006: Long-term changes in lake ice cover in Finland. Nordic Hydrology 37: 347-363
- Leppäranta, M., A. Reinart, A. Erm, H. Arst, M. Hussainov, L. Sipelgas, 2003. Investigation of ice and water properties and under-ice light fields in fresh and brackish water bodies, Nord. Hydrol., 34, 245–266.
- Livingstone, D. M. (1993), Lake oxygenation: Application of a one-box model with ice cover, Int. Rev. Ges. Hydrobiol., 78, 465–480.
- Livingstone, D. M. (1997) Break-up dates of Alpine lakes as proxy data for local and regional mean surface air temperatures, Climatic Change 37, 407-439.

- Livingstone, D. M. 2003. Impact of secular climate change on the thermal structure of a large temperate central European lake. Climatic Change 57:205-225.
- Livingstone, D. M. and R. Adrian (2007) Modeling the duration of intermittent ice cover on a lake for climatechange studies. Limnology and Oceanography (submitted)
- Magnuson, J. J., Robertson, D. M., Benson, B. J., Wynne, R. H., Livingstone, D. M., Arai, T., Assel, R. A., Barry, R. G., Card, V., Kuusisto, E., Granin, N. G., Prowse, T. D., Stewart K. M. and Vuglinski V. S. (2000a) Historical trends in lake and river ice cover in the Northern Hemisphere, Science 289, 1743-1746.
- Malmaeus, J. M.;Blenckner, T.;Markensten, H., and Persson, I. 2006. Lake phosphorus dynamics and climate warming: A mechanistic model approach. Ecological Modelling 190:1-14
- Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005b: Ecosystems and Human Well-being: Synthesis. Island Press, Washington, District of Columbia, 155 pp.
- MNP 2006: The effects of climate change in the Netherlands. (Bresser et al. (Eds.) Report from MNP available at http://www.mnp.nl/en/publications/2006/TheeffectsofclimatechangeintheNetherlands.html
- Mooij WM, Hu⁻Ismann S, Domis LND, Nolet BA, Bodelier PLE, Boers PCM, Pires LMD, Gons HJ, Ibelings BW, Noordhuis R, Portielje R, Wolfstein K, Lammens EHRR (2005) The impact of climate change on lakes in The Netherlands: a review. Aquat Ecol 39(4):381–400
- Noges et al. 2007: the impact of changes in the weather and climate on the seasonal dynamics of phytoplankton
- Palecki, M. A. and Barry, R. G. (1986) Freeze-up and break-up of lakes as an index of temperature changes during the transition seasons: a case study for Finland, Journal of Climate and Applied Meteorology 25, 893-902.
- Pedersen, N. L., and Sand-Jensen, K. 2007. Temperature in lowland Danish streams: contemporary patterns, empirical models and future scenarios. Hydrological Processes 21:348-358.
- Pernaravièiûtë, B. 2004. The impact of climate change on thermal regime of Lithuanian lakes. Ekologija 2: 58-63.
- Phillips, K.A. and Fawley, M.W. (2002) Winter phytoplankton blooms under ice associated with elevated oxygen levels, Journal of Phycology 38, 1068-1073.
- Rahel, F.J. & Olden, J.D. (2008) Assessing the effects of climate change on aquatic invasive species. Conservation Biology, 22, 521-533.
- Rijkswaterstaat, measurements Rhine River at Lobith period 1908-2006 (non published). See also MNP 2006
- Rodhe, W. (1955), Can phytoplankton production proceed during winter darkness in subarctic lakes?, Verh. Int. Ver. Limnol., 12, 117–122.
- Shatwell, T., Kohler, J. & Nicklisch, A. (2008) Warming promotes cold-adapted phytoplankton in temperate lakes and opens a loophole for Oscillatoriales in spring. Global Change Biology, 14, 2194-2200.
- Šporka, F., Livingstone, D. M., Stuchlík, E., Turek J. and Galas J. (2006) Water temperatures and ice cover in the lakes of the Tatra Mountains, Biologia 61 (Suppl. 18), S77-S90.
- Stewart, K. M. (1976), Oxygen deficits, clarity and eutrophication in some Madison lakes, Int. Rev. Ges. Hydrobiol., 61, 563–579.
- Visconti, A., Manca, M. & De Bernardi, R. (2008) Eutrophication-like response to climate warming: an analysis of Lago Maggiore (N. Italy) zooplankton in contrasting years. Journal of Limnology, 67, 87-92.
- Walsby, A.E, 2005. Stratification by cyanobacteria in lakes: a dynamic buoyancy model indicates size limitations met by Planktothrix rubescens filaments, New Phytologist 168, 365–376.
- Walsh CL, Kilsby CG (2006) Potential impacts of climate change on Atlantic salmon: case study in the Eden catchment, Cumbria, UK. Hydrol. Earth. Syst. Sci., in press
- Weyhenmeyer, G. A., Meili, M. and Livingstone, D. M. (2004) Nonlinear temperature response of lake ice breakup, Geophysical Research Letters 31(7), L07203, doi:10.1029/2004GL019530.
- Weyhenmeyer, G. A., Meili, M. and Livingstone, D. M. (2005) Systematic differences in the trend toward earlier ice-out on Swedish lakes along a latitudinal temperature gradient, Verhandlungen der internationalen Vereinigung der Limnologie 29(1), 257-260.
- Weyhenmeyer, G. A., T. Blenckner, and K. Pettersson (1999), Changes of the plankton spring outburst related to the North Atlantic oscillation, Limnol. Oceanogr., 44, 1788–1792.
- Weyhenmeyer, G.A. 2001: Warmer winters are planktonic algal populations in Sweden's largest lakes affected? Ambio 30, 565-571.

- Weyhenmeyer, G.A., Blenckner, T.and Pettersson, K. 1999: Changes of the plankton spring outburst related to the North Atlantic Oscillation, Limnology and Oceanography 44, 1788-1792.
- Whitehead, P. G., Wilby, R. L., Butterfield, D. and Wade, A. J. 2006. Impacts of climate change on nitrogen in a lowland Chalk stream: an appraisal of adaptation strategies Science of the Total Environment, 365, 260-273.
- Winfield, I.J., Ben James, J. & Fletcher, J.M. (2008) Northern pike (Esox lucius) in a warming lake: changes in population size and individual condition in relation to prey abundance. pp. 29-40. Springer.
- Winterbourn, M.J., Cadbury, S., Ilg, C. & Milner, A.M. (2008) Mayfly production in a New Zealand glacial stream and the potential effect of climate change. Hydrobiologia, 603, 211-219.

References - Chapter 3. Impacts on Ecological status

- Andersen, T., Carstensen, J., Hernández-García, E. & Duarte, C.M. (2009) Ecological thresholds and regime shifts: approaches to identification. Trends in Ecology and Evolution, 24(1), 49-57.
- Battarbee, R.W., M. Kernan, D.M. Livingstone, U. Nickus, P. Verdonschot, D. Hering, B. Moss, R.F. Wright, C.D. Evans, J.O. Grimalt, R.K. Johnson, E. Maltby, C. Linstead, and R.A. Skeffington. 2008.
 Freshwater ecosystem responses to climate change: the Euro-limpacs project, p. 313-354, In P. Quevauviller, et al., eds. The Water Framework Directive Ecological and Chemical Status Monitoring. John Wiley & Sons Ltd, Chichester, UK.
- Lassalle, G., Rochard, E. 2009. Impact of twenty-first century climate change on diadromous fish spread over Europe, North Africa and the Middle East. Global Change Biology, vol. 15, p. 1072-1089
- Lyche-Solheim, A., Rekolainen, S., Moe, S.J., Carvalho, L., Phillips, G., Ptacnik, R., Penning, E., Toth, L., O'Toole, C., Schartau, A.K., Hesthagen, T., 2008. Ecological threshold responses in European lakes and their applicability for the Water Framework Directive implementation: Synthesis of lakes results from the REBECCA project. Aquatic Ecol. 42, 2: 317-334.
- Moss, B., D. Hering, A J Green, A Aidoud, E Becares, M Beklioglu, H Bennion, L Carvalho, S Declerck, M Dobson, E van Donk, H Feuchtmayr, N Friberg, G Grenouillet, A Hobaek, K Irvine, R Johnson, M Meerhoff, S Ormrod, E Papastergiadou, R Ptacnik, P Verdonschot, B Clement, T Davidson, B Dudley, E Jeppesen, M Kernan, L Sandin, G Simpson, G A Weyhenmeyer, D Box, S Brucet, H Hillebrand, I Jones, M Manca, J Olafsson, E Penning, X Quintana, M Seferlis, C Triga, A M Verschoor 2009. Climate change and the future of freshwater biodiversity in Europe: a primer for policy-makers. Freshwater Reviews, Vol 2, No 2: 103-130.
- Straile, D., Jöhnk, K., Rossknecht, H. 2003. Complex effects of winter warming on the physico-chemical characteristics of a deep lake. Limnology and Oceanography, Vol. 48, pp. 1432-1438
- Thaulow, H., Lyche-Solheim, A., 2009. The Water Framework Directive Status and needs for knowledge and competence. CIENS-report: Nr 1-2009. ISSN: 1890-4572 ISBN: 978-82-92935-01-9

References - Chapter 4. Impacts on human health and socio-economic costs

- Boyd, C.E. (1998). Water Quality for Pond Aquaculture. Research and Development Series No. 43. International Center for Aquaculture and Aquatic Environments, Alabama Agricultural Experiment Station, Auburn University, Alabama.
- Chan, N.Y., K.L.Ebi, F. Smith, T.F. Wilson and A.E. Smith, 1999. An integrated assessment framework for climate change and infectious diseases. Environmental Health Perspectives, 107 (5): 329-337.
- Curriero, Frank C., Jonathan A. Patz, Joan B. Rose, and Subhash Lele. 2001. The Association Between Extreme Precipitation and Waterborne Disease Outbreaks in the United States, 1948–1994. American Journal of Public Health. Vol 91, No. 8. p. 1194 -1199.
- EEA, 2005. Sustainable use and management of natural resources. Report, No 9/2005.
- EEA 2008. Impacts of Europe's changing climate 2008 indicator-based assessment. Joint EEA-JRC-WHO report. EEA report no. 4, JRC report no. JRC47756: 247 p.
- EEA, 2009. Quality of bathing water 2008 bathing season. Report, No 6/2009
- Eikebrokk, B, Vogt, R.D., Liltved, H. 2004. NOM increase in Northern European source waters; discussion on possible causes and impacts on coagulation/contact filtration processes. Water Sci. Technol. 4: 47-54.

- EU- Bathing Water Directive, 2006. Directive 2006/7/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 February 2006 concerning the management of bathing water quality and repealing Directive 76/160/EEC
- EU-Water-Framework-Directive, 2000. Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 October 2000 establishing a framework for Community action in the field of water policy.
- Fernald, S.H., N.F. Caraco, and J.J. Cole, 2007. Changes in cyanobacterial dominance following the invasion of the zebra mussel Dreissena polymorpha: Long-term results from the Hudson River Estuary. Estuaries and Coasts 30: 163-170.
- Hansen, J. W., Nedergaard, M., Skov, F. 2008. IGLOO Indikatorer for globale klimaforandringer i overvågningen, Bilagsrapport. By- og Landskabsstyrelsen, Miljøministeriet, Denmark
- Kumagai, M., K. Ishikawa and J. Chunmeng, 2003:Dynamics and biogeochemical significance of the physical environment in Lake Biwa. Lakes Reserv. Res. Manage., 7, 345-348.
- Lehner, B., G. Czisch, S. Vassolo, 2005. The impact of global change on the hydropower potential of Europe: a model-based analysis, Energy Policy 33, p. 839–855
- Løvik, J.E., O.H. Stuen, E. Fjeld, 2008. Forurensningssituasjonen i Mjøsa med tilløpselver 2008. NIVA-report 5757-2009.
- Lyche-Solheim A., K. Austnes, J. Moe, R. Collins, H. Prchalova, L. Globevnik, V. Kodes, J.R. Selvik, G. Morabito, J.E. Løvik and A. Hobæk, 2010. Freshwater Eutrophication Assessment. ETC Water Technical report no. 2.
- Reinartz, R., 2007. Auswirkungen der Gewässererwärmung auf die Physiologie und Ökologie der Süßwasserfische Bayerns. Literaturstudie im Auftrag des Bayerischen Landesamtes für Umwelt Referat 57 / Gewässerökologie.
- Roijackers, R.M.M. and Lürling, M., 2007. Climate Change and Bathing Water Quality. Environmental Science group, Aquatic Ecology and Water Quality chair, Wageningen UR. http://library.wur.nl/way/bestanden/clc/1878877.pdf
- WHO, 1990. Potential health effects of climatic change: report of a WHO task group. World Health Organisation, Geneva: 58 pp.
- WHO, 2003. Guidelines for safe recreational water environments, Volume 1: coastal and fresh waters.

References - Chapter 5. Adaptation

- Benzie, M.; Leipprand, A.; Dworak, T., 2006. Evaluation of Questionnaire Results Impacts of Climate Change on Water Resources and Adaptation Strategies in Europe. Ecologic, Berlin, 2006.
- EEA 2009a. River basin management in a changing climate- a Guidance Document. Draft version 2. September 4th 2009. European Environment Agency, Copenhagen. 106 p.
- EEA 2009b. Report on good practice measures for climate change adaptation in river basin management plans. EEA/ADS/06/001: Version 3. European Environment Agency, Copenhagen. 116 p.
- EEA 2008. Impacts of Europe's changing climate 2008 indicator-based assessment. Joint EEA-JRC-WHO report. EEA report no. 4, JRC report no. JRC47756: 247 p.
- EEA 2007: Climate change and water adaptation issues. EEA Technical Report No. 2/2007, European Environment Agency, Copenhagen.
- EC 2007: Adapting to climate change in Europe options for EU action. Green Paper from the Commission to the Council, the European Parliament, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. COM(2007) 354 final.
- EC,2009:http://circa.europa.eu/Public/irc/env/wfd/library?l=/framework_directive/guidance_documents&vm=de tailed&sb=Title)
- IPCC, 2007. Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to theFourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on climate Change, Parry, M. L.; Canziani, O. F.; Palutikof, J.P.; van der Linden, P. J. and Hanson, C.E. (eds.), Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- Isoard, S.; Grothmann, T. and Zebisch, M., 2008. Climate Change Impacts, Vulnerability and Adaptation: Theory and Concepts', Workshop 'Climate Change Impacts and Adaptation in the European Alps: Focus Water', UBA Vienna.

- Scientific Expert Group on Climate Change (Bierbaum, R.M.; Holdren, J. P.; MacCracken, M. C.; Moss, R. H. and Raven, P. H. (eds.)), 2007. Confronting Climate Change: Avoiding the Unmanageable and Managing the Unavoidable. Report prepared for the United Nations Commission on Sustainable Development. Research Triangle Park, N.C., and Washington, D.C.: Sigma Xi and the United Nations Foundation.
- Stern, N. 2006: The Economics of Climate Change. The Stern Review. Cambridge University Press, available at: http://www.hm-treasury.gov.uk/index.cfm
- Swart, R., R. Biesbroek, S. Binnerup, T.R. Carter, C. Cowan, Th. Henrichs, S. Loquen, H. Mela, M. Morecroft, M. Reese and D. Rey 2009: Europe Adapts to Climate ChangeComparing National Adaptation Strategies. PEER Report No 1. Helsinki: Partnership for European Environmental Research, available at: www.peer.eu

Abbreviations

CHAB	Cyanobacterial harmful algal blooms
DOC	Dissolved organic carbon
EC	European Commission
EEA	European Environment Agency
ETC	European Topic Centre
Euro-Limpacs	The impact of global change on European freshwater ecosystems
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
JRC	Joint Research Centre
NAO	North Atlantic Oscillation index
PCB	Polychlorinated biphenyls
POPs	Persistent organic pollutants
REFRESH	Adaptive strategies to mitigate the impacts of climate change on European freshwater
	ecosystems
WFD	Water Framework Directive
WHO	World Health Organisation